
  

MEMORANDUM 
 
 
To:  Members of the Commission    
 
From:  Nancy Wittenberg 
  Executive Director 
 
Date:  June 5, 2019 
 
Subject: Summary of the June 14, 2019 Meeting Packet 
 
 
Minutes 
 
The May 12, 2019 Commission Meeting minutes (open and closed sessions) and attachments are 
included in your packet.  

 
Public Development Application 
 
The following public development application is being recommended for approval with conditions: 

 
1. Application Number 1981-0545.013/Hamilton Township Municipal Utilities Authority, 

Hamilton Township, Regional Growth, Construction of a 3,709  square foot addition to an 
existing operations building. 

 
Waiver of Strict Compliance 
 
There are no Waivers of Strict Compliance applications on this month’s agenda. 
 
Letter of Interpretation 
 
Four Pinelands Development Credit (PDC) Letters of Interpretation (attached) were issued since the last 
Commission meeting, allocating 5.50 PDCs to 121.02 acres. 

 
 Off-Road Vehicle Event Route Map Approval 
 
No Off-Road Vehicle Event Route Map Approvals were issued since the last Commission meeting. 
 
  



2 
 

Planning Matters 
 
Ordinances from Dennis Township and Pemberton Township are being recommended for certification at 
this month’s meeting.  Dennis Township Ordinance 2019-01 revises the boundaries of two Pinelands 
Villages: Belleplain and Dennisville.  Pemberton Township Ordinance 12-2019 adopts a Redevelopment 
Plan for the Rowan College at Burlington County Redevelopment Area, which is located in the 
Pinelands Regional Growth and Rural Development Areas. Pemberton Township Ordinance 13-2019 
adopts a Redevelopment Plan for the Former Burlington County Minimum Security Corrections and 
Work Release Center Redevelopment Area, which is located in the Pinelands Regional Growth Area. 
 
Master Plans and Ordinances Not Requiring Commission Action 
 
We have included a memorandum on four ordinance amendments that we reviewed and found to raise 
no substantial issues with respect to Comprehensive Management Plan standards. These amendments 
were submitted by Hamilton Township, Monroe Township and Washington Township. 
 
Other Items 
 
Also included in this month’s packet is:  
 

1. A resolution that will allow the Commission to continue with its normal expenditures until the 
Fiscal Year 2020 budget is approved; and 
 

2. A memorandum from the Regulatory Programs office that finds one public development 
application to be consistent with an existing Memorandum of Agreement (MOA). 
 

Closed Session 
 
The Commission may need to convene into closed session. 
 
Please note that future meetings and office closure dates, as well as any Pinelands-related activities of 
interest, are listed at the bottom of the agenda.        
 
/ PC1 
 



 

  NEW JERSEY PINELANDS COMMISSION MEETING AGENDA 
Friday, June 14, 2019 

Richard J. Sullivan Center for Environmental Policy and Education 
Terrence D. Moore Conference Room 

15C Springfield Road  
New Lisbon, New Jersey  

9:30 a.m.    
1. Call to Order 

 
 Open Public Meetings Act Statement  
 Roll Call  
 Pledge Allegiance to the Flag 

 
2. Adoption of Minutes  

 
 May 10, 2019  (open and closed sessions) 

 
3.  Committee Chairs' and Executive Director's Reports  

 
4.  Matters for Commission Consideration Where the Record is Closed 
 

A. Permitting Matters 
 

 Office of Administrative Law  
 

• None 
 

 Review of Local Approval  
 

• None 
 

 Public Development Projects and Waivers of Strict Compliance 
 

• Approving With Conditions an Application for Public Development 
(Application Number 1981-0545.013)(3,709 square foot addition to an 
existing operations building, Hamilton Township MUA) 

 
B.      Planning Matters 

 
 Municipal Master Plans and Ordinances  



2 
 

 
• Issuing an Order to Certify Ordinance 2019-01, Amending Chapter 185 

(Zoning) of the Code of Dennis Township 
 

• Issuing an Order to Certify Pemberton Township Ordinance 12-2019, 
Adopting the Rowan College at Burlington County Redevelopment Plan, and 
Ordinance 13-2019, Adopting the Former Burlington County Minimum 
Security Corrections and Work Release Center Redevelopment Plan 
 

 Other Resolutions 
 

• None 
 

 CMP Amendments  
 

• None 
 

5.   Public Comment on Public Development Applications, Waivers of Strict Compliance, and 
Where the Record is Not Closed.  

  
A. Public Development Projects 

 
 None 

 
B. Waivers of Strict Compliance 

 
 None 

   
    6.   Master Plans and Ordinances Not Requiring Commission Action 
 

 Hamilton Township Ordinance 1900-2019 
 Monroe Township Ordinance O:12-2019 
 Washington Township Ordinance 2018-05 
 Washington Township Ordinance 2018-07 

 
    7.   Other Resolutions 
 

 To Authorize the Executive Director to Continue to Expend Funds for Fiscal Year 
2020 at the Same Level of Expenditures as Fiscal Year 2019 until the Adoption of the 
Fiscal Year 2020 Budget 

 
    8.   General Public Comment 

 
   9.   Resolution to Retire into Closed Session (if needed) – Personnel, Litigation and Acquisition                                

Matters (The Commission reserves the right to reconvene into public session to take action on 
closed session items.) 

 
   10.  Adjournment 



3 
 

Events of Interest 
 

Pinelands Summer Short Course - Kramer Hall, Hammonton, NJ - July 18, 2019 
 

Pinelands Municipal Council Meeting and Pinelands Orientation-  
New Lisbon, NJ - Richard J. Sullivan Center - July 23, 2019 at 4:00 p.m. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
To ensure adequate time for all members of the public to comment, we will respectfully limit comments 
to three minutes.  Questions raised during this period may not be responded to at this time but where 
feasible, will be followed up by the Commission and its staff. 
 
 
Pinelands Commission and Committee meeting agendas are posted on the Commission’s Web site and 
can be viewed at www.nj.gov/pinelands/.  The agendas are also posted and can be viewed at the 
Pinelands Commission Offices, 15 Springfield Road, New Lisbon, New Jersey or for more information 
on agenda details, e-mail the Public Programs Office  at Info@pinelands.nj.gov or call (609) 894-7300. 
 
 

Upcoming Meetings 
 Unless otherwise noted, all meetings/events are conducted at the  

offices of the Pinelands Commission in New Lisbon 
 
Fri., June 28, 2019           Policy and Implementation Committee Meeting (9:30 a.m.) 
Fri., July 12, 2019       Pinelands Commission Meeting (9:30 a.m.) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Upcoming Office Closures 
      
              Thursday, July 4, 2019     Independence Day 
         
 

http://www.nj.gov/pinelands/
mailto:info@njpines.state.nj.us
mailto:Info@pinelands.nj.gov


PC2-36 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PINELANDS COMMISSION MEETING 
Richard J. Sullivan Center 

Terrence D. Moore Conference Room 
15 Springfield Road 

New Lisbon, New Jersey 
 

MINUTES 
 

May 10, 2019 
 
 

Commissioners Present  
Alan W. Avery Jr., Bob Barr, Daniel Christy, Jordan P. Howell, Jerome H. Irick, Jane 
Jannarone, Mark Lohbauer, William Pikolycky, Richard Prickett, and Chairman Sean 
Earlen.  Also present were Executive Director Nancy Wittenberg, Governor’s Authorities 
Unit representative Craig Ambrose and Deputy Attorney General (DAG) Kristina Miles.  
 
Commissioners by Phone 
D’Arcy Rohan Green 
 
Commissioners Absent 
Candace Ashmun, Ed Lloyd and Gary Quinn.  
 
Chairman Earlen called the meeting to order at 9:39 a.m.   
 
DAG Miles read the Open Public Meetings Act Statement (OPMA). 
 
The Commission and public in attendance pledged allegiance to the Flag. 
 
Oath of Office 
 
DAG Miles administered the oath of office to Mr. Daniel Christy, who will serve as 
Gloucester County’s appointee on the Commission. 



PC2-37 
 

Chairman Earlen welcomed Commissioner Christy to the Commission. 
 
Executive Director Nancy Wittenberg called the roll and announced the presence of a 
quorum.  (There were 11 Commissioners who participated in the meeting.) 
 
Minutes 

Chairman Earlen presented the open and closed session minutes from the April 12, 2019 
Commission meeting.  Commissioner Avery moved the adoption of the minutes.  
Commissioner Prickett seconded the motion.   
 
The April 12, 2019 Commission meeting minutes (open and closed sessions) were adopted 
by a vote of 10 to 0. Commissioner Christy abstained from the vote. 
 
Committee Chairs' Reports 
Chairman Earlen said the April 26th Policy and Implementation Committee meeting was 
canceled. 
 
Vice-Chairman Avery provided an overview of the May 3, 2019 Personnel and Budget 
Committee meeting: 
 
The Committee adopted the minutes from the February 26, 2019, meeting. 
 
Staff reviewed the check registers, electronic disbursements and application fees covering 
February and March.  The application fees have reached 110%, exceeding the budgeted 
amount. 
 
Staff provided an update on employee actions. 
 
Staff presented a draft resolution authorizing a change of the Commission’s financial 
institution to The Bank of Princeton.  
 
Executive Director Wittenberg gave an update on the audit process, Edmunds Software 
processing and CWA contract ratification. 
 
There was no public comment but the Committee did meet in Closed Session. 

Executive Director’s Reports 

ED Wittenberg introduced Jeff Dragon, a new member of the Commission’s Science 
office. She also introduced April Field, a former employee, who recently rejoined the 
Commission.   
 
ED Wittenberg said former Commissioner Steve Lee invited her to attend a tour on April 
16, 2019 to survey various plots of forested land throughout the Pinelands.  She said the 
tour was an outcome of the joint Assembly hearing on fire safety.   She said legislators, 
legislative staff, New Jersey Department of Environmental (NJDEP) staff, foresters and 



PC2-38 
 

landowners also attended the tour.  She witnessed firsthand the complexity of forest 
maintenance for fire safety. 
 
She said she had her first NJDEP coordination meeting with Policy Advisor to the 
Commissioner, Dan Ryan. 
 
Commissioner Lohbauer said he was pleased to hear that ED Wittenberg is involved in 
forest management discussions so the Commission will not have to make last minute or 
urgent decisions regarding clear cutting trees. 
 
Director Chuck Horner provided information on the following regulatory matters: 
 Staff met with Mullica Township representatives regarding economic development 

and potential zoning changes along the White Horse Pike. 
 Staff met with Egg Harbor City officials regarding a potential minor rezoning to 

accommodate commercial development. 
 Staff met with Tabernacle Township to discuss development options along Route 

206 and a change of use at the Sequoia Alternative High School. 
 Staff is scheduled to meet with Hammonton officials to discuss the Town’s 

wastewater treatment facility on May 15th. 
Director Horner said the Staff has also been involved in two violation matters: 
 Staff supported Winslow Township in court regarding an agricultural operation that 

removed a substantial amount of soil from the property. 
 Staff will be providing assistance to Mullica Township regarding a commercial 

activity that has occurred without application to the Township and the Commission. 
 
Stacey Roth, Chief, Legal & Legislative Affairs, reminded Commissioners that Financial 
Disclosure Statements must be filed by May 15, 2019. 
 
Ms. Roth said that oral argument for the South Jersey Gas matter was scheduled for the end 
of May. DAG Miles sent a letter to the court on May 6th requesting adjournment and made 
a motion for the matter to be remanded back to the Commission.  She said the request for 
adjournment was granted and we are waiting for a decision on the remand request. 
 
Ms. Roth said that a member of the public requested an adjudicatory hearing for application 
number 1987-1299.005. She said although the hearing request was procedurally deficient,  
it was reviewed based on the public comment that was submitted and ultimately denied. 
  
Chief Planner Susan R. Grogan updated the Commission on the following planning 
matters: 
 Staff met with Southampton Township to discuss economic development on the 

Red Lion Circle. The development would require a zoning change or 
redevelopment plan.  The Township is also working with the Burlington County 
Planning office on a new Master Plan. 

 Staff met with Hamilton Township representatives and the property owner of the 
former Atlantic City Race Course.  The parcel consists of about 250 acres that 



PC2-39 
 

includes the old grandstand and a couple of vacant parcels. The proposal includes a 
redevelopment plan for mixed-use development. 

 The Pinelands Infrastructure Trust Fund’s recent round of funding generated nine 
project proposals.  Staff will provide the P&I Committee with preliminary 
recommendations at an upcoming meeting. 

 The Commission was not selected to receive grant funding from the NJDEP for a 
submission related to the Barnegat Bay stormwater proposal. 

 
Chairman Earlen asked why there had been an increase in ordinances over the last couple 
of months. 
 
Chief Planner Grogan said that a number of the ordinances pertain to amendments the 
Commission adopted over the last several years.  She said some of the ordinances are for 
performance guarantees generated by a change to the Municipal Land Use Law. She added 
that more recently the Commission received ordinances related to solar energy due to the 
community solar initiative.  
 
Communications Officer Paul Leakan provided an update on the following: 
 A tour of the Buena Borough’s state of the art wastewater treatment plant has been 

schedule for May 22nd. 
 The 3rd Annual Summer Short Course at Kramer Hall has been scheduled for July 

18th and will include a blacksmithing demonstration and possibly a tour of a local 
brewery. 

 The Pinelands Orientation for newly elected officials is scheduled for July 23 at the 
Commission’s headquarters. 

 
Public Development Projects and Other Permit Matters 
Chairman Earlen presented a resolution recommending approval of three public 
development applications approving the construction of three miles of trail in Buena Vista 
Township and two electronic traffic advisory signs in Upper Township. 

 
Commissioner Lohbauer made a motion Approving With Conditions Applications for 
Public Development (Application Numbers 1982-2560.004, 2011-0075.002 & 2017-
0191.001) (See Resolution # PC4-19-17).  Commissioner Prickett seconded the motion. 
 
Commissioner Christy asked how the signs were relevant to the Pinelands. 
 
Director Horner said signs are typically exempt from review, however there was additional 
development associated with the advisory signs that required application to the 
Commission. 
 
The Commission adopted the resolution by a vote of 11 to 0.   
 
Chairman Earlen presented a resolution recommending approval for the construction of a 
50 stall paved parking lot in Mullica Township. 

 



PC2-40 
 

Commissioner Avery made a motion Approving With Conditions An Application for 
Public Development (Application Number 1987-1299.005) (See Resolution # PC4-19-18).  
Commissioner Lohbauer seconded the motion. 
 
Ms. Roth provided information on the appeal request.  She said Ms. Joy Ramer’s hearing 
request was procedurally deficient but a response was provided based on the comments she 
provided during the public development comment period.  She said Ms. Ramer raised 
concerns about the following neighborhood impacts: increase in stormwater runoff, noise, 
traffic and light pollution. She said Ms. Ramer does not have a particularized property 
interest and was not granted the right to an adjudicatory hearing. 
 
Director Horner said the application is for an addition to an existing parking lot. The 
applicant has submitted stormwater management plans and calculations and meets the 
Commission’s standards.  He added that some of issues Ms. Ramer raised are not regulated 
by the CMP and encouraged her to contact the school district. He said staff spoke with the 
design engineer for the school and the addition of the parking lot will not worsen the 
flooding but could provide some relief.  He said the engineer indicated that the flooding 
stems from the adjacent road. 
 
Commissioner Avery asked who owns the roads. 
 
Director Horner said the road is a municipal right-of-way. 
 
Commissioner Irick raised concerns that the school board does not need to seek any further 
approvals from another governing body. 
  
Director Horner said under the Municipal Land Use Law, a school board does not need to 
apply to the Township for approval or permits. 
 
Commissioner Irick said the original school and parking lot essentially could have been 
built without approvals from another agency.  He said he was concerned about what efforts 
have been undertaken regarding buffer, screening and drainage. 
 
Director Horner said the Commission’s stormwater management standards do not require 
an applicant to address pre-existing conditions.  He said the staff cannot recommend a 
denial of an application based on pre-existing conditions.  He said when the public raises 
issues that are outside the Commission’s purview, staff recommends that they address their 
concerns with the public agency in question. 
 
Commissioner Irick asked if the Commission should look into this issue further. 
 
Director Horner said the Commission needs to make a decision as to what degree it would 
like to review applications. 
 
Commissioner Lohbauer said he disagreed with staff’s determination to deny Ms. Ramer’s 
request for an adjudicatory hearing. 



PC2-41 
 

 
The Commission adopted the resolution by a vote of 10 to 0, with Commissioner Irick 
abstaining. 
 
Director Horner added that he spoke with Ms. Ramer about her concerns. 
 
Chairman Earlen presented a resolution recommending approval for the construction of a 
56 stall paved parking lot in Pemberton Township.   
 
Commissioner Lohbauer made a motion Approving With Conditions an Application for 
Public Development (Application Number 1985-0641.013) (See Resolution # PC4-19-19).  
Commissioner Jannarone seconded the motion. 
 
Commissioner Prickett asked the Ethics Liaison Officer for guidance on participating in the 
vote. 
 
Ms. Roth advised Commissioner Prickett that he only had to recuse from the matter if he 
was involved in the application during his tenure as an elected official for Pemberton 
Township. 
 
Commissioner Prickett said he had not been involved. 
 
The Commission adopted the resolution by a vote of 11 to 0.   
 
Public Comment on Public Development Applications and Items where the record is open 

No members from the public spoke. 

Ordinances Not Requiring Commission Action 
 
Chairman Earlen asked if any Commissioners had questions regarding the ordinances not 
requiring Commission action: 
 

 Buena Borough Ordinance 676 
 Evesham Township Ordinance 3-3-2019 
 Franklin Township Ordinance O-4-19 
 Town of Hammonton Ordinance 001-2019 
 Little Egg Harbor Township Ordinance 2019-05 
 Manchester Township Ordinance 19-008 
 Shamong Township Ordinance 2018-10 
 City of Vineland Ordinance 2019-22 
 Woodland Township Ordinance 2019-2  

 
No members of the Commission had questions. 
 
  



PC2-42 
 

Other Resolutions 
 
Chairman Earlen said the next resolution is to allow the Commission to continue to use its 
current bank. He said the bank has been bought by another bank and will be changing its 
name. 
 
Commissioner Avery made a motion Authorizing a Change of the Pinelands Commission’s 
Fiduciary Institution.  Commissioner Lohbauer seconded the motion (See Resolution # 
PC4-19-20).    
 
The Commission adopted the resolution by a vote of 11 to 0. 
 
Presentation 
ED Wittenberg provided the highlights of the 2018 Annual Report. (See attached slides) 
  
Commissioner Prickett said past Annual Reports can be found on the website and are a 
great resource. 
 
General Public Comment 

Joy Ramer of Mullica Township said she lives across the street from the school where the 
proposed parking lot will be constructed.  She said there has been an increase in flood 
water since the retention pond was built.  She said the flooding on her street is source point 
water and is directly from the school. 
 
Georgina Shanley of CURE welcomed the new Commissioners. She said the Commission 
should report on the land lost due to approved development.  She suggested that the 
Commissioners are not provided adequate time to review the materials they vote on.  She 
said there is a climate crisis occurring and the Commission needs to look at the science. 
She asked the Commission to revoke its decision on the South Jersey Gas decision. 
 
Temma Fishman of Medford Lakes, NJ, said she was in favor of B.L. England shutting 
down. She asked the Commission to revoke the approvals previously granted for the South 
Jersey Gas pipeline. 
 
Marianne Clemente of Barnegat, NJ asked for more information on the Commissioner who 
was sworn in this morning.  She said the Commission changed the process for public 
comment. She said it’s a violation of transparency. 
 
Chairman Earlen said Commissioner Christy replaced Commissioner Chila, who was the 
Gloucester County representative.  He said Commissioner Christy was chosen by the Board 
of Chosen Freeholders. 
 
Jonathan Peters of The City University of New York raised concerns over the Commission 
partnering with private land owners and non-profits on acquisition matters. He said it limits 
the public’s access to these lands.  He said he is open to discussing alternatives to the 
current land acquisition approach. 



PC2-43 
 

 
Hara Rola of Haddon Township, NJ, urged the Commission to revoke its approval for the 
South Jersey Gas pipeline (see attached letter she read into the record). 
 
Jaclyn Rhoads, of the Pinelands Preservation Alliance (PPA), said she attended the joint 
hearing held by the Assembly Agriculture and Environment Committees on wildfires.  She 
said it was a shame the Commission was not invited to the hearing. She provided a brief 
overview of “The Prescribed Burn Act”. She said PPA plans to reach out to the NJDEP 
about its plan to promote the Act.  She said the Kirkwood Cohansey (KC) study was 
completed many years ago. She said the Commission’s mandate allows the Commission to 
address both water supply and water quality.  She said she hopes that with the new 
administration the Commission can move forward on KC study amendments. 
 
Margo Pellegrino of Medford Lakes, NJ, said the Commission should factor in climate 
change when reviewing development applications.  She also asked the Commission to 
revoke the South Jersey Gas pipeline approval. 
 
Rhyan Grech of the Pinelands Preservation Alliance said she was happy to hear that the 
South Jersey Gas application will be remanded back to the Commission for a vote to 
revoke the approval.  She suggested the Commission also revoke Resolution # PC4-16-42, 
which adopted a process to review the South Jersey Gas pipeline application.  She 
suggested the Commission adopt rules to fix the gap in the CMP regarding public utilities 
(N.J.S.A.40:55D-19). 
 
In response to a commenter, ED Wittenberg said that the Commission’s public comment 
process has not changed. 
 
Commissioner Prickett said his meeting materials are provided in plenty of time before 
Commission meetings.  He also said that Pinelands resources are lost when the land is 
degraded.  He said the Commission has a Land Capability Map that outlines where specific 
development can happen.  He said prescribed burns, maintaining the ecological integrity of 
the Pinelands and the protection of threatened and endangered species allow the Pinelands 
to thrive. 
 
Commissioner Irick said as a new Commissioner, information has been provided to him in 
a timely manner. 
 
Resolution to Retire into Closed Session 
DAG Miles read a resolution to enter into closed session to discuss the appeals related to 
the South Jersey Gas matter and a personnel matter.  

Commissioner Lohbauer made a motion to enter into closed session. Commissioner Barr                
seconded the motion. The Commission agreed to retire into closed session by a vote of 11 
to 0, beginning at 10:57 a.m. 

Return to Open Session 



PC2-44 
 

The Commission entered back into open session at 12:42 p.m. DAG Miles provided a 
summary of the closed session.  She said the Commission discussed litigation related to the 
South Jersey Gas matter and a personnel matter.

Adjournment 
Commissioner Barr moved to adjourn the meeting.  Commissioner Irick seconded the 
motion.  The Commission agreed to adjourn at 12:45 p.m.    

Certified as true and correct:

_________________________________   Date:  May 29, 2019 
Jessica Noble, Executive Assistant







 

 

       April 18, 2019 

 

Lisa Tilton, Administrator 

Buena Vista Township 

890 Harding Highway 

Buena, NJ 08310 

 

 Re: Application # 1982-2560.004 

  Block 502, Lots 4.01 & 6 

  Buena Vista Township 

 

Dear Ms. Tilton: 

 

The Commission staff has completed its review of this application for construction of three miles of 

nature trails. Enclosed is a copy of a Public Development Application Report. On behalf of the 

Commission’s Executive Director, I am recommending that the Pinelands Commission approve the 

application with conditions at its May 10, 2019 meeting. 

 

Any interested party may appeal this recommendation in accordance with the appeal procedure attached 

to this document. If no appeal is received, the Pinelands Commission may either approve the 

recommendation of the Executive Director or refer the application to the New Jersey Office of 

Administrative Law for a hearing. 

 

Prior to any development, the applicant shall obtain any other necessary permits and approvals. 

 

 Sincerely, 

 

 

 

 Charles M. Horner, P.P. 

 Director of Regulatory Programs 

 

Enc: Appeal Procedure 

 Public Comment 

 

c: Secretary, Buena Vista Township Planning Board 

 Buena Vista Township Construction Code Official 

 Atlantic County Department of Regional Planning and Development 

 David Scheidegg 

 Mark Demitroff 



 

 

PUBLIC DEVELOPMENT APPLICATION REPORT 

 

       April 18, 2019 

 

Lisa Tilton, Administrator 

Buena Vista Township 

890 Harding Highway 

Buena, NJ 08310 

 

Application No.: 1982-2560.004 

   Block 502, Lots 4.01 & 6 

   Buena Vista Township 

 

This application proposes construction of three miles of nature trails located on the above referenced 

91.57 acre parcel in Buena Vista Township. The John W. Quigley Recreation Park is located on the 

parcel.   

 

The majority of the proposed nature trail will be located within a forested area of the parcel. The 

applicant proposes to clear the vegetated understory and place wood mulch to create the four foot wide 

trail. The proposed development will not result in the removal of any live or dead trees.  

 

STANDARDS 

 

The Commission staff has reviewed the proposed development for consistency with all standards of the 

Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan (CMP). The following reviews the CMP standards that are 

relevant to this application:  

 

Land Use (N.J.A.C. 7:50-5.26(b)4 & 5.27(a)) 

 

The proposed development is located in a Pinelands Rural Development Area and the Pinelands Village 

of Collings Lakes.  The proposed development is a permitted land use in a Pinelands Rural Development 

Area and a Pinelands Village. 

 

Wetlands Standards (N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.6) 

 

There are wetlands located within 300 feet of the above referenced parcel.  All development, including 

the proposed understory vegetation clearing, is proposed at least 300 feet from wetlands. 

 

 

 

 



2 

Vegetation Management Standards (N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.23 & 6.26) 

 

The proposed development will be located within a pine-oak forest. The proposed understory vegetation 

clearing is limited to that which is necessary to accommodate the proposed development. 

 

The Landscaping and Revegetation guidelines of the CMP recommend the use of grasses that are 

tolerant of droughty, nutrient poor conditions. The applicant does not propose revegetation. 

 

Threatened and Endangered Species Standards (N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.27 & 6.33) 

 

To avoid the possibility of the proposed development having an irreversible adverse impact on habitat 

critical to the survival of any local population of threatened or endangered animal species, the applicant 

proposes to locate all trails so as to avoid the removal of any live or dead trees. 

 

Stormwater Management Standards (N.J.A.C.7:50-6.84(a)6) 

 

The applicant has demonstrated that there will be no increase in the volume and rate of stormwater 

runoff from the project after the development then occurred prior to the proposed development. 

 

Cultural Resource Standards (N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.151) 

 

The Commission staff reviewed the application for evidence of cultural resources on the parcel. Based 

upon the lack of potential for significant cultural resources on the parcel, a cultural resource survey was 

not required. 

 

PUBLIC COMMENT 
 

The applicant has provided the requisite public notices. Notice to required land owners within 200 feet 

of the above referenced parcel was completed on December 12, 2018. Newspaper public notice was 

completed on December 14, 2018. The application was designated as complete on the Commission’s 

website on March 1, 2019. The Commission’s public comment period closed on April 12, 2019. The 

Commission received four written public comments (attached) from one individual regarding this 

application. The same individual offered oral public comment at the Commission’s April 12, 2019 

meeting.   

 

Written and Oral Comment:  On January 20, 2017, the commenter submitted information indicating that 

the proposed development would be located in the vicinity of inland 

dunefields. The commenter also provided a copy of an article titled “The 

Newtonville Dune Field” and a copy of a 2015 Recreational Trails 

Program Grant Application from the Township of Buena Vista to the New 

Jersey Department of Environmental Protection (NJDEP), Green Acres 

Program.  

 

The commenter questioned the status of certain development that 

previously occurred at Michael Debbi Park without application to the 

Commission.    

  

On October 30, 2018, the commenter submitted information indicating 

that there are two conflicting versions of the trail’s configuration. The 



3 

commenter also indicated that Buena Vista Township represented in an 

application to the NJDEP Stewardship Program that the trails proposed in 

this application were already built. The commenter further indicated that 

Buena Vista Township represented that since the trails would be located 

on land owned by the municipality, no permits were needed. 

 

On November 26, 2018, the commenter submitted information indicating 

that the proposed development would be located in the vicinity of the 

Newtonville dune field, that the Collings Lakes parcel is traversed by an 

ancient byway known as the Woodbury Road and that the Woodbury 

Road was associated with a nearby Swedish enclave. The commenter also 

provided a copy of an article titled “Proposing New Barrens National 

Natural Landmarks” and a second copy of the article titled “The 

Newtonville Dune Field”. 

 

On April 12, 2019, the commenter provided written and verbal comments 

to the Commission regarding the application. The commenter indicated 

that the proposed development cannot be approved by the Commission as 

the municipality has not acted in a manner that is accordant to law or 

proper business conduct, that the project would have required a written 

motion to have been adopted by a deliberative body for application and 

that Buena Vista Township intentionally kept the proposed development 

hidden in an effort to circumvent the scrutiny of the Pinelands 

Commission and its own residents. The commenter also reiterated their 

previous comments that there were two conflicting versions of the trail’s 

configuration and that Buena Vista Township indicated that since the trails 

would be located on land owned by the municipality, no permits are 

needed. Lastly the commenter indicated that two trails had already been 

developed.   

 

Staff Response: The Commission staff appreciates the commenter’s interest in the 

Pinelands Area.  

 

The CMP does not identify or regulate dunefields. 

 

Applications have been approved by the Commission for certain 

development that occurred at Michael Debbi Park without application to 

the Commission. The Commission staff is currently unaware of any land 

development violations at Michael Debbi Park.   

 

The Township has applied to the Commission for the proposed 

development. The application form is signed by the Township 

Administrator. The application includes a site plan prepared by a New 

Jersey Licensed Engineer indicating the extent of the proposed 

development. Notwithstanding information that may have been submitted 

to other agencies, the development must be undertaken in accordance with 

the site plan referenced in this Report. Public notice of the application was 

provided to adjacent land owners on December 12, 2018 and newspaper 

public notice of the application was completed on December 14, 2018. 



4 

 

The proposed development was reviewed by the Commission staff 

archeologist. That review indicated a lack of potential for significant 

cultural resources on the parcel.  

 

By e-mail dated April 17, 2019, the Township Administrator indicated that 

no construction of the proposed nature trail has begun.   

 

The commenter may wish to discuss their concerns regarding the internal 

municipal administrative processes regarding development activities in the 

Township and the Township’s application to the NJDEP Stewardship 

Program with an appropriate municipal official. 

 

CONDITIONS 

 

1. Except as modified by the below conditions, the proposed development shall adhere to 

the plan prepared by Schaeffer Nassar Scheidegg Consulting Engineers, LLC, dated 

March 22, 2017 and revised to November 5, 2018. 

2. Disposal of any construction debris or excess fill may only occur at an appropriately 

licensed facility. 

3. Any proposed revegetation shall adhere to the "Vegetation" standards of the CMP.  

Where appropriate, the applicant is encouraged to utilize the following Pinelands native 

grasses for revegetation: Switch grass, Little bluestem and Broom-sedge. 

4. Prior to any development, the applicant shall obtain any other necessary permits and 

approvals. 

5. All development, including removal of understory vegetation, shall be located at least 

300 feet from wetlands. 

CONCLUSION 

 

As the proposed development conforms to the standards set forth in N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.57, it is 

recommended that the Pinelands Commission APPROVE the proposed development subject to the 

above conditions. 

 



 

 

PINELANDS COMMISSION 

APPEAL PROCEDURE 
 

The Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan (N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.91) provides an interested party the 

right to appeal any determination made the by Executive Director to the Commission in accordance with 

N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.91. An interested party is someone who has a specific property interest sufficient to 

require a hearing on constitutional or statutory grounds. Only appeal requests submitted by someone 

meeting the definition of an interested party will be transmitted to the New Jersey Office of 

Administrative Law for a hearing. Any such appeal must be made in writing to the Commission and 

received at the Commission office no later than 4:00 PM on May 7, 2019 and include the following 

information: 

 

1. the name and address of the person requesting the appeal; 

 

2. the application number; 

 

3. the date on which the determination to be appealed was made; 

 

4. a brief statement of the basis for the appeal; and 

 

5. a certificate of service (a notarized statement) indicating that service of the notice has 

been made, by certified mail, on the clerk of the county, municipal planning board and 

environmental commission with jurisdiction over the property which is subject of this 

decision. 

 

Within 15 days following receipt of a notice of valid appeal, the Executive Director shall initiate the 

procedures for assignment of an Administrative Law Judge to preside at the hearing pursuant to the 

Administrative Procedures Act, N.J.S.A. 52:14B-1 et seq., and the procedures established by the Office 

of Administrative Law.  The time, date and location of such hearing shall be designated by the Office of 

Administrative Law. 

 



��������� �		
�	����	������������	�����	�����������
������������

��������	


����������������	��������������������������������������������������������������������� !"#$�
%��������&��'(�)������*���������������������������������������������������+�������������������������+���
%����	�
��&��

������	��������������*������������������������������������������������%����	�
��&�

����� �����"��������,����-��������.�������/
��� ,
������-�*�����������*���/
���
� 012312304�5674�$�
�� !
��� 
������89��6�
���6�:����������;���6�"
<�=����������+
""� ,������-���������*���/
�������
��#� �"�35.2304�$����5����;�"��������2334� ���������
����������

$���0����5

012512304���6111�61>���1����1
��"���1�����1���1?$������17@@2557A$� #�
 "= #�B23����



���������	
����������������������������������	����	��������������������������������	����������������������	��

����	�����������������������������	��������������������������	�������������������	������������������	����
����	���������	����������������������������������������	���	�������������������������������	�����������	���
������������������	���������	��������������������������������������������������	������������� �!������

�	������������	��������������������������
�����������	����"�#
����������	����	�������������!	���
������
$��������%�&''���������������������������������������	�����	�	�����������������������(����������������)���	��
������	���		
����������
�����(�������������������������������������������������)���������������������

���*++�����	���
�����������+��������
�������+�	���
�������������������������������������	�������	�
	������"

���,-.-�/��	���0��1������	������������������������������������	�����������������������	��2��������������
���3 ��������������������	��������������������4��
��������������������5���"	
���������������������
�
�����	
���		���������������������	����������������������������������	�������������������������������	������
�	��������������	���!�������������������������	�6���� ��������������������	��
7�����8������
�9����������������
�����	��������������	����	��������������������������������		�

�����&����%

,+&%+&',:��	�*+++/*+;����+"���+!��<���+1���	+����+=��������+.--&%%.>���?1!�<#�?8@&'1���



���������	
���	��	��������	����	�����	�����	���	��	��	��	��������	�����	�������

��	�������	�������	��	����	����	���	���	����	��������	���	�����	�������	������	������	��������	��	 ������
	
 ���	�	��������	�	�� ��
�	��	
��	�������!�	��������	���������	���������	��
	�"���������	������������		

#	��	��
�	��	���������	����	����	���$��	 ���	�
	%�����
�	�����������	��
	�"� �	 ����	��	��	���	��	
��	��� �
�	��	��	���	���	������
�

��������
����	��������

&'(�()(�*'*+

�������� ,�� ��

	�����	��������

���	���	-��
�

%�����
�	�����	���
��	������	���	����
	.���	/����	0� �����	1./02	�	����	������������	���	����	
�������	�����	"����������	#	��	������
	����	./0	���	�����	���	��	������"��	%�����
�	����	��	��	
�������	��	� �	�����	�����	��������"�3	��	��	������	����	%���	��
	�	����
	��	��������	�����

42	5��	./0	
��������
	��	���	����	����	������	����	%���	�����	�����	��	�	������
	 ����
	���	��
	
����	�������	"���������	��	������	����	%���	��"	��	����"
6	

������

�� !
��������3	����
�	-��
7	��3	��8	���	��������
���
������	4(	9��	*:4+	4;3::3')	�:'::
����������	��������	<����=����������������>

�������#���=�$�����������$���

%��	?	��	?

4@*?@*:4+���3@@@�3@A���@����@�������@�����@0��@B%��� ��@'&&*??';%#CD��C��CD-E*:����











































































































�

����������	�


���� ��������	
���������������������	�����

����� �����������
��������� �!"� #$%�&�

��� '(()�����&*

�������� +,-�,./'01�'

�#�2	���3����4�35����
����
��	6�

Ms. Berg, 

I forward these notes to you as the Resource Planner, as they relate to two Buena Vista Township nature trails: 

 

About Michael Debbi Park: 

Please note that, apparently, BVT remains in violation at Michael Debbi Park. Two retention basins have not 

been built as promised. Also, the BVT minutes were from March 10, 2016—after BVT's application. Also, 

there was no 2009 forest fire that closed the park trail. The nature trail was closed in 2009 under direction by the 

Pinelands Commission for permit violations.  

Also, the project was much larger in scope than a milkweed-butterfly planting as claimed. 

Furthermore, the municipality has approved $877,015.00 in new park improvements without curing the old 

violations. Can the municipality move ahead on a new initiative when the old violations remain open? 

229-18 – Award Michael Debbi Park Lighting Project to Janney 

Electric 

Resolution Awarding the Michael Debbi Park Lighting Project to 

Janney Electric in the amount of $877,015.00 



�

 

About Quigley Park: 

Please note that I have submitted two OPRA requests for the Quigley Park project, and there have not been any 

responsive records at the Pinelands Commission. 

Furthermore, that Quigley Park application you reference (above) does not appear on your most recent Active 

Public Development Applications list: 

 

Please correct that oversight. Forgive my cynicism, but my municipality has had numerous non-compliance 

issues associated with Pinelands rules in the past. 

Incredibly, BVT misled the NJDEP Stewardship Program by getting points for two other trails that are really 

one, which was never built but they received a $12,000 grant for. 

NJDEP program acknowledges two nature trails in Buena Vista Township, neither trail is Pinelands approved, 

nor were they ever even built. Trails are not Environmental Enhancement Projects if they are in violation of 

Pinelands rules. 

 

First, there is the issue of Pinelands review. Apparently BVT argues—incorrectly—that, because this is 

municipal land, no permits are needed: 



�

 

Second, there are two conflicting plan versions of the trail's configuration, the one sent to NJ Trails (upper left) 

and the contrasting one on the Green Acres application, the latter of which is a template for athletic fields. Note 

how wetlands seem to vanish on the latter version. 

 

I worry that BVT will gain approval for the innocuous natural-looking NJ Trails application, then use that 

approval to switch efforts toward the Green Acres built-landscape iteration. It will be interesting to see which 

version you received. 

 

Sincerely, 

Mark Demitroff 

 



� � � � � � � � � 	 
 � �  � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �� � � � �  � ! � " " # $ % # $ & " ' " " ( $ ) ( $ * + �, � � + - - . � � � / 0 1 � + - - . � � � � - � � 
 2 � � 3 � � � 4 � � � 5 �6 6 �7 8 9 : � � ; � < = > ? = @ A + B C +   � ( = � � 
 �  	 
 � � � D E � 
 � � F � �  � ? � G � � � � - D + - - 2 � � �  � � � H " I ' $ �$ * % & � & & ) / + - - 2 � � �  � � � H " I I * � " % * I � & & >J ; ; K � L � � M ; N � O & O � � � � � 2 
 � - 3 � / 	 
 � �  � � � � $ & & P A 
 G  � � 5 � 2 2 
 + � 3 � � � � � - 3 �	 
 � � @ 
 5 � 
 G Q  � � � /E � 
 � � F � �  � ? � G � � � � - � � 
 � � � � 
 3 � �  G � � �  � � 
  � � � 2 � / � � 
 � � 1 � 2 2 � � � � B � � 
 � � � 3  � 
 �  � 
 � � � @ � � � 2 � � 3 �1 R B B . A S Q B + T = Q.  � �  � 
 G 
 �  
 � � � 
 � � � � �  � 
 A 
 G  � � 5 � 2 2 
 3 � � 
 � � 
 2 3 � U V V W X X W Y Z V [ � / � � 
 � � 
 � � � � � � � - � � - � � � � � 2 � � 3 � � 
 � �\ � � 2 
  � 
 0 � � 
 2 � � 3 � 1 � � � � � � � � � � � � ] 
   � � 
 � � � � � ^ 
  � 
 � � � � � � � � � � � � � 
 /  � 
 A �  � � � � 2 0 � � � Q 
 � 5 � � 
 � � � � ? � 
0 � � 
 E � � � � � 3 
 � � � � �  
 3 � � � ( _ � 
 - � 
 � 
 �  �  � 5 
 � � � � 
 G � � � � 
 � �  � 
 � 
 G � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  � 
 � � � � 
 �  2 � � � � 2 � � 3 � � � � � � ? � 
 � 
 � � � 2 � � � � � 2 2 ] 3 � 5 
 � � 
 
 � � � ] �  
 � � � � � � � � 
 � �  �  � � 3 � � � 
 ` � � - 2 
 � � � � � - � �  � �  � 
 � 2 � � � � � 
 � 
 � � V a b � / c = � 2 � � � B � � 3 � � � � � d e c \ � � � � � � S 2 � � � 
 � � d � � � 3 
 � � 2 � � � � � 2 - � � � 
 � � 
 � � V a b � / c f � � 
 d � � E � � � � 2 
 V X W g �$ & " O / � 2 � � �   � � � 
 3 � �+ 2 � � /  � 
 1 � 2 2 � � � � B � � 
 � - � � � 
 2 � �  � � 5 
 � � 
 3 � ] � � � � � � 
 �  � ] G � ] � � � G � � �  � 
 \ � � 3 � � � ] @ � � 3 / G � � � �� 
 - �  
 3 2 ] � � � � �  
 � �  � � � � � � - � 
 � � � �  � �   � � � 2 � .  � � � 2 � � � � � � � � �  
 3 G �  � � � 
 � � � ] Q G 
 3 � � � 
 � � 2 � 5 
 � G � 
 3 � ]. � � � 
 2 B � � � � � � � � � � � � " P P O / � �  � � ] � 
  � 
 � 
 � ] " P % " � �



h i j k l m n o p q q r s t u o k v m k w k o r q x o o m y z n m { n | } z m o n~ z k o k x o k { � l k o p � } t m { k � x o o k { } n p n z k { p o n z n p p � ~ z k � � � x { � t m { k � � } z w x } o k � k { n � � � k } m y { x n k � xs x n m p { x � h p { � l k { n m { o k � p y { m n m p { p q n z k } m y { m q m � x { � k p q m { � x { � t � k m } n p � k { k � � { k } r � � x � k } p q } � k � m x �y k p � m v k o } m n � i � w x } x o k v m k w k o q p o n z k s x n m p { x � t x o � u k o v m � k r w z m � z m { � m � x n k } s t u � p { } m � k o k � l k k � � k o n p {} � � z � x { � q p o l } i� � � � � � s jt � k x } k { p n k n z x n � p n z � m � z � x { � x { � � p � � m { y } � x � k } n o x m � } x o k x } } p � m x n k � w m n z ~ � � } � k � m k } i t m { k � x { � } o � � k }� m � n x n k n z x n { p n o k k o k l p v x � r � k x � p o x � m v k r m } x � � p w k � i



� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �   � ¡ � � � � � � ¢ � � � � � � � £   � � � ¤ � �   � ¤ ¥ � � � � � � � ¦ �   � � � � § � ¨ ¨ � � � ¤ © � � ª � � � � � � � � � �« � � � ¬  � � � � � � ¥ ¤ � �   � �   � � ¨ � ª � ¢ � � � � � � � � ® � � � � � ¯ � ° � © � � � ¤ � � � � � � ± � ² � � � � � � ¥ � � ³



´ µ ¶ · ¸ ¶ ¹ ¶ º º » ¼ ¸ ½ ¼ ¹ » º ¾ ¿ À Á » · ¸ Â ¶ ¶ Ã Ä ¶ ¶ Å ¶ Ä Â Æ º » ¶ ´ ¼ Ã ¶ µ · Ã Ä ¸ Ç È Å Å ¼ ¸ ¸ ¼ È Ã · ¸ · ½ È ¹ É ¶ Ê È Å Å É Ã ¼ º Æ ¼ Ã º » ¶ Ë · ¸ º Ì· Ã Ä º » ¶ Å É Ã ¼ Ê ¼ Ë · µ ¼ º Æ ¸ ¶ ¶ Å ¸ º È Â ¶ È Ã · Í · Å ¼ µ ¼ · ½ º ½ · Ê Î Ã È Ï ¾Ð ¼ Ã Ê ¶ ½ ¶ µ Æ ÌÑ · ½ Î Ò ¶ Å ¼ º ½ È Í Í



Proposing New Barrens National Natural Landmarks

Mary C. Brickle, Todd R. Lookingbill, and Katharina A.M. Engelhardt

The National Natural Landmarks (NNL) Program, administered and maintained through 

the National Park Service, was established in 1962 with the goal of highlighting sites that best 

demonstrate the outstanding geologic and biologic features of the United States. In a unique 

partnership between public and private landowners, the National Park Service accepts sites 

into the program that best illustrate the diversity of our country’s natural heritage regard-

less of ownership. The NNL program seeks solely to recognize these sites for their geologic 

and biologic significance and to strengthen the public’s appreciation for and conservation of 

America’s natural heritage. Potential NNLs are evaluated based on the following criteria: (1) 

outstanding condition, (2) illustrative value, (3) rarity, (4) diversity, and (5) value to science 

and education. Sites are designated by the secretary of the interior and, as of today, 586 land-

marks have received the NNL designation. 

We conducted an analysis of the existing NNL portfolio of sites within three physio-

graphic regions of the Northeast Region: Piedmont, Valley and Ridge, and Appalachian Pla-

teau (Figure 1). The goal of the assessment was to identify underrepresented biologic and 

geologic themes and to recommend potential new sites within the region whose character 

provides excellent illustrations of those theme gaps. To identify specific sites for recommen-

dation to the program, we examined studies of hundreds of sites previously considered for 

nomination as potential NNLs in the relevant physiographic provinces. Two sites came to 

the forefront in this review: Albany Pine Bush Preserve and Nottingham Serpentine Barrens. 

Both are representative of a new barrens theme which is missing from the current list of land-

marks. These biologically diverse ecosystems combine outstanding examples of important 

geologic themes (e.g., “Eolian Landforms”; “Works of Glaciers”) and ecological processes 

(e.g., “Fire”). They also provide good habitat for rare species in relatively urban settings that 

have a high potential for public education. The gap analysis demonstrates how the NNL 

program provides a highly structured but flexible system for the continued expansion of this 

catalogue of the country’s diverse natural landscape.

The George Wright Forum, vol. 30, no. 3, pp.  253–260 (2013).

© 2013 The George Wright Society. All rights reserved.

(No copyright is claimed for previously published material reprinted herein.)

ISSN 0732-4715. Please direct all permissions requests to info@georgewright.org.



Albany Pine Bush

Albany Pine Bush Preserve supports significant examples of periglacial sand dunes and pitch 

pine–scrub oak barrens. The preserve is located between the cities of Albany and Schenect-

ady in the Capital District of upstate New York (Figure 1). It is owned by multiple private 

and public organizations and managed by the Albany Pine Bush Preserve Commission. The 

site is one of only two pine barrens to support a dynamic sand dune landscape in the Appa-

lachian Plateau region and one of two sand dune ecosystems within the Appalachian Valley 

and Ridge region. This extraordinary ecosystem gives rise to a variety of habitats. The sandy, 

well-drained soils are home to 45 of the 538 wildlife species of greatest conservation need 

(SGCN) found in New York State, including one state and federally listed endangered spe-

cies, the Karner blue butterfly (Lycaeides melissa samuelis).

Figure 1. Map of three physiographic provinces assessed and two bar-

rens study sites.



Primary geological features. Periglacial sand dunes are fossil landscape features that 

are common throughout colder climates of the world. These types of inland sand dunes are 

the result of wind action reworking sediments from glacial lakes or outwash dating back to 

prior periods of glaciation. The sand dunes at Albany Pine Bush are indicators of past aridity 

associated with the cold, dry, and windy climates encountered during the Late Pleistocene. 

Following the retreat of the Laurentide ice sheet and subsequent evaporation of the resulting 

glacial lake, thick sediment deposits were exposed to continual wind erosion. This led to the 

formation of scree and finer sand particles, which were shaped into dunes and depressions. 

The preserve is a bit unusual in that it contains representative examples of both parabol-

ic and longitudinal dunes (Figure 2). Prevailing northwesterly winds shaped most of the sand 

dunes, forming primarily parabolic dunes that ranged from 100 to 2,000 feet in length. Typi-

cally oriented with their longest axis running from northwest to southeast, the crescent shape 

of these dunes suggests they were colonized early by vegetation which helped stabilize the 

dune surface and prevent significant reworking (Barnes 2003). Eolian processes also contrib-

Figure 2. Examples of both longitudinal and parabolic dunes found 

in the Albany Pine Bush Preserve.



uted to the formation of short, broad, ridge-shaped longitudinal dunes, usually between 30 

to 60 feet high and typically several hundred feet long (Bradley et al. 2010). Today, the dunes 

are characterized by a transitioning topography from flat to gently rolling surfaces, with both 

sand swells and low domes dotted with pitch pine (Pinus rigida) and carpeted with diverse 

understory plants. Swamps, wetlands, and shallow ponds have come to fill in holes that were 

long ago eroded into the sandy soil (Bried and Edinger 2009). In colder months, the low-ly-

ing depressions between the dunes can act as “frost pockets.” As the cooler air settles into 

these areas, plant growth is delayed in comparison to the areas of higher elevation. This leads 

to less dense patches of scrub oak (Quercus ilicifolia) in these areas, and they instead become 

dominated by prairie grasses and sedges. 

Primary biological features. The dynamic mosaic landscape of the Albany Pine Bush 

gives rise to a globally rare assemblage of plants and animals. Owing to nutrient-limiting 

sandy soils and the heterogeneous topography of the dunes, sand dune ecosystems support 

a diverse biota dominated by pine barrens in higher-lying drier habitats and wetlands in 

low-lying wet areas at the base of the dunes. The Albany Pine Bush provides one of the best 

and largest examples of an inland pine barrens ecosystem in the world, covering approxi-

mately 40 square miles prior to European colonization (USFWS 1997; Barnes 2003). Pitch 

pine–scrub oak communities dominate the Albany Pine Bush landscape, making up 42% of 

the mapped communities in the preserve. Fire disturbance within a pine barrens ecosystem 

serves to rejuvenate the natural community, drive out exotic plant species, and increase the 

food and habitat supply for native insects and other animals (e.g., Beachy and Robinson 

2008). It is an important component in maintaining the unique ecological qualities of the 

community (Milne 1985). Good natural conditions for wildfires have existed within the Al-

bany Pine Bush Preserve for thousands of years, especially during the frequent periods of 

high winds, because the sandy, nutrient-poor soil tends to be droughty and a fuel supply of 

plant litter accumulates rapidly due to retarded microbial decomposition (Barnes 2003). The 

dry, acidic soils of the Pine Bush do not promote the decomposition of litter, and the lack of 

earthworms or other organisms in the dry upper layers of the sandy soil mean that organic 

matter decomposed by fungi is not incorporated back into the soil.

The Albany Pine Bush is nationally recognized for its extensive populations of rare but-

terflies and moths, and management plans have focused on the protection of these rare in-

sects (APBPC 2010). There are hundreds of Lepidoptera species found in the Pine Bush, 

including over 40 noctuid moths considered to be pine barrens specialists. A variety of re-

gionally rare butterflies are also associated with the pitch pine–scrub oak barrens, grasslands, 

and other fire-maintained communities found in dry, sandy areas of the preserve. The fed-

erally listed endangered Karner blue butterfly typically occurs in the grassy openings in the 

pitch pine–scrub oak barrens; both its food plant and the host plant for its larvae is the wild 

blue lupine (Lupinus perennis), distributed throughout the Albany Pine Bush (Forrester et 

al. 2005). There is increasing evidence of a distinct and rich avian community in the pine bar-

rens ecosystems of the Albany Pine Bush (Beachy and Robinson 2008; Gifford et al. 2010), 

and the site has been designated as a New York State Bird Conservation Area.



Nottingham Serpentine Barrens

The Nottingham Park Serpentine Barrens are composed of shallow serpentine rock out-

crops and unique vegetation communities, especially serpentine grassland and open savan-

na communities. The park is located on the outskirts of Philadelphia in Chester County, 

Pennsylvania (Figure 1). The pine savanna and prairie ecosystems are especially species rich, 

supporting diverse warm-season grasses. The site contains some of the greatest numbers 

of endemic, rare, characteristic, and disjunct species found on serpentine soils within the 

Piedmont physiographic province. Recent surveys have confirmed the presence of at least 

21 globally or state-rare plant species, including one of the largest populations in the world 

of serpentine aster (Aster depauperatus), which is one of the only two recognized serpentine 

endemics of eastern North America.

Primary geological features. Serpentine soils have been extensively studied in the Unit-

ed States, and historic mine sites at Nottingham provide glimpses of its underlying geolo-

gy. Serpentinite is one of the most rare and unusual bedrock materials in the United States 

(Brooks 1987). The term “serpentine” is derived from the greenish color and pattern of the 

rock, which resembles that of a snake’s skin. High concentrations of siderophile elements in 

the soils, such as chromium, nickel, and cobalt, are toxic to plants, resulting in low concen-

trations of calcium, nitrogen, phosphorus, and potassium and therefore creating conditions 

of extremely low soil fertility. The inability of crops or other common vegetation to thrive on 

these soils has permitted a rare, endemic flora to flourish.

The southernmost extent of the Wisconsin ice sheet was just north of the site, which 

provide an additional connection between the geology and biology of the site (Brooks 1987). 

New species established themselves in the tundra-like climatic conditions of the region 

during the period of glaciation. When the ice sheet retreated, these species remained in the 

serpentine barrens where they likely had far fewer competitors. 

Primary biological features. Serpentine barren vegetation is found on only a small frac-

tion of serpentine outcrops; this distinctive vegetation is characterized by a diverse native 

grassland with scattered pines and oaks, sclerophyllous shrubs, and a diverse herbaceous lay-

er. In aerial view, these serpentine barrens appear as islands surrounded by forest and farm-

land of the heavily populated Piedmont. When compared with non-serpentine vegetation, 

serpentine plants generally display a greater tolerance of high magnesium and low calcium 

levels, have higher magnesium requirements for growth, have lower magnesium adsorption 

and greater calcium absorption, and show magnesium exclusion from leaves (Tyndall and 

Farr 1989).

Similar to the pitch pine–scrub oak barrens in the Albany Pine Bush, the rare commu-

nities that inhabit the serpentine barrens of Nottingham are fire dependent and maintained 

by an active prescribed burning management policy (Figure 3). Increased fire suppression 

beginning in the early 1900s has allowed fire-intolerant species such as Virginia pine (Pi-

nus virginiana) and eastern red cedar (Juniperus virginiana) to increase in abundance on 

serpentine grasslands throughout the eastern United States (Tyndall and Farr 1989). The 

persistence of pitch pines in the Nottingham Barrens is unusual and indicates that fire con-



� � � � � � � � � � 	 
 � � 	 � 
 �  � � 	 � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

tinued to burn parts of the Nottingham landscape throughout this historical period of fire 

suppression. Ongoing prescribed burning at the site provides an excellent opportunity to 

educate the public on the role of fire in natural ecosystem processes. Like Albany Pine Bush, 

the site is also host to a wide variety of birds, mammals, moths, butterflies, amphibians and 

reptiles including at least 33 that are rare globally or within the state. The site is included 

within an Audubon Society of Pennsylvania Important Bird Area.

Comparative assessment

After careful evaluation of the barrens ecosystems at Albany Pine Bush Preserve and Notting-

ham Park and throughout the Piedmont and Appalachians, we recommended both of these 

sites for designation as NNLs. Barrens are an important natural historical feature of the east-

ern United States that are largely underappreciated. Once thought to be biologically depau-

parate, these landscapes are increasingly recognized for their rich flora and fauna, including 

distinctive endemic and rare species. The designations of these sites would fill a significant 

gap within the NNL program. They also provide an opportunity to showcase the ecological 

value of fire to maintaining landscape diversity, and illustrate the important connections be-

tween geologic and ecologic processes. 

Barrens landscapes are also highly threatened. The interplay of the underlying geologic 

substrates (inland sand dunes and serpentine outcrops) with the need for frequent distur-

Figure 3. Prescribed fire management in the Albany Pine Bush Preserve. Photo courtesy of Neil 

Gifford.



bance provide an uncommon set of circumstances for the development of these ecosystems. 

As a result, they are easily degraded by activities such as fire suppression and associated 

biological invasions of coniferous trees and exotic species (Hochman 2001; Malcolm et al. 

2008). Unfortunately, many barrens also have been lost to development in the last centuries. 

Those barrens sites that remain are frequently embedded in a sea of increasing human set-

tlements. This landscape context provides a challenge to the preservation of high-quality, 

natural conditions at the sites. However, it also provides an opportunity as the National Park 

Service continues to recognize the educational and ecological importance of urban parks 

(Lookingbill et al. 2007; Gifford et al. 2010). Ongoing partnerships fostered by the unique 

land ownership aspects of the NNL program would encourage threatened sites such as these 

that are paramount to the nation’s natural history to share information and solve problems 

cooperatively.

Acknowledgments

We gratefully acknowledge the National Park Service National Natural Landmarks Program 

and the University of Richmond Arts and Sciences Summer Research Fellowship for funding 

this project. We also are grateful to Neil Gifford and Bill DeCarme for their assistance with 

site visits and data compilation. Roger Latham and Mark Demitroff, among many others, 

provided useful review of the assessments. 

References

APBPC [Albany Pine Bush Preserve Commission]. 2010. Management Plan and Final En-

vironmental Impact Statement for The Albany Pine Bush Preserve. Albany: APBPC.

Barnes, J.K. 2003. Natural History of the Albany Pine Bush. Albany: New York State Muse-

um.

Beachy, B.L., and G.R. Robinson. 2008. Divergence in avian communities following woody 

plant invasions in a pine barrens ecosystem. Natural Areas Journal 28: 395–403.

Bradley, J.W., M. Younge, and A. Kozlowski. 2010. The Sundler sites: Reconstructing the 

Late Pleistocene landscape and its people in the Captial Region of New York. In Sol-

diers, Cities, and Landscapes: Papers in Honor of Charles L. Fisher. New York State 

Museum Bulletin no. 513. P.B. Drooker and J.P. Hart, eds. Albany: University of the 

State of New York, The State Education Department, 213–223. 

Bried, J.T., and G.J. Edinger. 2009. Baseline floristic assessment and classification of pine 

barrens vernal ponds. Journal of the Torrey Botanical Society 136: 128–136.

Brooks, R.R. 1987. Serpentine and its Vegetation: A Multi-disciplinary Approach. Portland, 

OR: Dioscorides Press.

Forrester, J.A., D.J. Leopold, and S.D. Hafner. 2005. Maintaining critical habitat in a heavily 

managed landscape: Effects of power line corridor management on Karner blue butterfly 

(Lycaeides melissa samuelis) habitat. Restoration Ecology 13: 488–498.

Gifford, N.A., J.M. Deppens, and J.T. Bried. 2010. Importance of an urban pine barrens for 

the conservation of early-successional shrubland birds. Landscape and Urban Planning 

94: 54–62.

Hochman, D.J. 2001. Pinus virginiana invasion and soil–plant relationships of Soldier’s De-



light Natural Environment Area, a serpentine site in Maryland. M.S. thesis, University 

of Maryland.

Lookingbill, T.R., R.H. Gardner, P.A. Townsend, and S.L. Carter. 2007. Conceptual models 

as hypotheses in monitoring urban landscapes. Environmental Management 40: 171–

182.

Malcolm, G.M., D.S. Bush, and S.K. Rice. 2008. Soil nitrogen conditions approach preinva-

sion levels following restoration of nitrogen-fixing black locust (Robinia pseudoacacia) 

stands in a pine-oak ecosystem. Restoration Ecology 16: 70–78.

Milne, B.T. 1985. Upland vegetational gradients and post-fire succession in the Albany Pine 

Bush, New York. Bulletin of the Torrey Botanical Club 112: 21–34.

Tyndall, R.W., and P.M. Farr. 1989. Vegetation structure and flora of a serpentine pine–cedar 

savanna in Maryland. Castanea 54: 191-199.

USFWS [United States Fish and Wildlife Service]. 1997. Significant Habitats and Habitat 

Complexes of the New York Bight Watershed—Complex #30 Albany Pine Bush. Washing-

ton, DC: USFWS.

Mary C. Brickle, University of Richmond, Richmond, Department of Geography and the 

Environment, 28 Westhampton Way, Richmond, VA 23173; mary.brickle@gmail.com

Todd R. Lookingbill, University of Richmond, Richmond, Department of Geography and 

the Environment, 28 Westhampton Way, Richmond, VA 23173; tlooking@richmond.

edu

Katharina A.M. Engelhardt, University of Maryland Center for Environmental Sciences, 

Appalachian Lab, 301 Braddock Road, Frostburg, MD 21532; engelhardt@umces.edu









 

 

       April 18, 2019 

 

Brenna Fairfax (via email) 

New Jersey Department of Transportation 

1035 Parkway Avenue 

Trenton, NJ 08625 

 

 Re: Application # 2011-0075.002 

  State Route 50 

  Upper Township 

 

Dear Ms. Fairfax: 

 

The Commission staff has completed its review of this application for construction of an electronic 

traffic advisory sign within the State Route 50 right-of-way and associated development. Enclosed is a 

copy of a Public Development Application Report.  On behalf of the Commission’s Executive Director, 

I am recommending that the Pinelands Commission approve the application with conditions at its May 

10, 2019 meeting. 

 

Any interested party may appeal this recommendation in accordance with the appeal procedure attached 

to this document. If no appeal is received, the Pinelands Commission may either approve the 

recommendation of the Executive Director or refer the application to the New Jersey Office of 

Administrative Law for a hearing. 

 

Prior to any development, the applicant shall obtain any other necessary permits and approvals. 

 

 Sincerely, 

 

 

 

 Charles M. Horner, P.P. 

 Director of Regulatory Programs 

Enc: Appeal Procedure 

 

c: Secretary, Upper Township Planning Board (via email) 

 Upper Township Construction Code Official (via email) 

 Secretary, Cape May County Planning Board (via email) 

  

 

 



 

 

PUBLIC DEVELOPMENT APPLICATION REPORT 

 

       April 18, 2019 

 

Brenna Fairfax (via email) 

New Jersey Department of Transportation 

1035 Parkway Avenue 

Trenton, NJ 08625 

 

Application No.: 2011-0075.002 

   State Route 50 

   Upper Township 

 

This application proposes construction of an electronic traffic advisory sign with associated 

development within the State Route 50 right-of-way in Upper Township.    

 

The proposed development associated with the traffic advisory sign includes the construction of 165 

linear feet of guiderail, equipment cabinets, a maintenance vehicle paver pad and the installation of fiber 

optic cable. The applicant indicates that the proposed development will be utilized to inform motorists of 

traffic congestion and to assist the New Jersey Department of Transportation with emergency 

management and congestion mitigation.  

 

STANDARDS 

 

The Commission staff has reviewed the proposed development for consistency with all standards of the 

Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan (CMP). The following reviews the CMP standards that are 

relevant to this application.  

 

Land Use (N.J.A.C. 7:50-5.26(b)10) 

 

In the area of the proposed development, State Route 50 is the boundary between the State regulated 

Pinelands Area and the Pinelands National Reserve. In this area, the entire State Rt. 50 right-of-way is 

located in the Pinelands Area.  

 

The majority of the proposed development is located in the Pinelands Area. A small portion of the 

proposed development is located outside the State Route 50 right-of-way in the Pinelands National 

Reserve.      

 

The proposed development in the Pinelands Area is located in a Pinelands Rural Development Area. The 

proposed development is a permitted use in a Pinelands Rural Development Area. 

 



2 

The proposed development in the Pinelands National Reserve is not subject of this application. 

    

Wetlands Standards (N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.13) 

 

There are wetlands located within 300 feet of the proposed development. The proposed development 

will be located in the required buffer to wetlands.       

 

The CMP permits roads (linear improvement) and accessory structures to roads such as road signs and 

guiderails, in the required buffer to wetlands provided the applicant demonstrates that certain CMP 

specified conditions are met.  The applicant has demonstrated that there is no feasible alternative to the 

proposed development that does not involve development in the required buffer to wetlands or that will 

result in a less significant adverse impact to the required buffer to wetlands.  In addition, the proposed 

development will not result in a substantial impairment of the resources of the Pinelands.  With the 

conditions below, all practical measures are being taken to mitigate the impact on the required buffer to 

wetlands.  The applicant has represented that the proposed development is necessary to improve the 

safety of the existing roadway.  The applicant has demonstrated that the need for the proposed 

development overrides the importance of protecting the wetlands. 

 

Vegetation Management Standards (N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.23 & 6.26) 

 

The proposed development will be located within existing maintained grassed road shoulders. The 

proposed soil disturbance is limited to that which is necessary to accommodate the proposed 

development. 

 

The Landscaping and Revegetation guidelines of the CMP recommend the use of grasses that are 

tolerant of droughty, nutrient poor conditions. The applicant proposes to replant non-native lawn grasses 

along the maintained road shoulder.   

 

PUBLIC COMMENT 
 

The CMP defines the proposed development as “minor” development.  The CMP does not require public 

notice for minor public development applications.  The application was designated as complete on the 

Commission’s website on March 28, 2019. The Commission’s public comment period closed on April 

12, 2019. No public comment was submitted to the Commission regarding this application.  

 

CONDITIONS 

 

1. Except as modified by the below conditions, the proposed development shall adhere to 

the plan, consisting of four sheets, prepared by Michael Baker International, Inc., all 

sheets dated December 6, 2018. 

2. Disposal of any construction debris or excess fill may only occur at an appropriately 

licensed facility. 

3. Any proposed revegetation shall adhere to the "Vegetation" standards of the CMP.  

Where appropriate, the applicant is encouraged to utilize the following Pinelands native 

grasses for revegetation: Switch grass, Little bluestem and Broom-sedge. 

 



3 

4. Prior to any development, the applicant shall obtain any other necessary permits and 

approvals. 

5. Appropriate measures shall be taken during construction to preclude sedimentation from 

entering wetlands and shall be maintained in place until all development has been 

completed and the area has been stabilized. 

CONCLUSION 

 

As the proposed development conforms to the standards set forth in N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.57, it is 

recommended that the Pinelands Commission APPROVE the proposed development subject to the 

above conditions. 

 



 

 

PINELANDS COMMISSION 

APPEAL PROCEDURE 
 

The Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan (N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.91) provides an interested party the 

right to appeal any determination made the by Executive Director to the Commission in accordance with 

N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.91. An interested party is someone who has a specific property interest sufficient to 

require a hearing on constitutional or statutory grounds. Only appeal requests submitted by someone 

meeting the definition of an interested party will be transmitted to the New Jersey Office of 

Administrative Law for a hearing. Any such appeal must be made in writing to the Commission and 

received at the Commission office no later than 4:00 PM on May 7, 2019 and include the following 

information: 

 

1. the name and address of the person requesting the appeal; 

 

2. the application number; 

 

3. the date on which the determination to be appealed was made; 

 

4. a brief statement of the basis for the appeal; and 

 

5. a certificate of service (a notarized statement) indicating that service of the notice has 

been made, by certified mail, on the clerk of the county, municipal planning board and 

environmental commission with jurisdiction over the property which is subject of this 

decision. 

 

Within 15 days following receipt of a notice of valid appeal, the Executive Director shall initiate the 

procedures for assignment of an Administrative Law Judge to preside at the hearing pursuant to the 

Administrative Procedures Act, N.J.S.A. 52:14B-1 et seq., and the procedures established by the Office 

of Administrative Law.  The time, date and location of such hearing shall be designated by the Office of 

Administrative Law. 

 



 

 

       April 18, 2019 

 

Brenna Fairfax (via email) 

NJ Department of Transportation 

1035 Parkway Avenue 

Trenton, NJ 08625 

 

 Re: Application # 2017-0191.001 

  State Route 49 

  Upper Township 

 

Dear Ms. Fairfax: 

 

The Commission staff has completed its review of this application for construction of an electronic 

traffic advisory sign with associated development within the State Route 49 right-of-way. Enclosed is a 

copy of a Public Development Application Report.  On behalf of the Commission’s Executive Director, 

I am recommending that the Pinelands Commission approve the application with conditions at its May 

10, 2019 meeting. 

 

Any interested party may appeal this recommendation in accordance with the appeal procedure attached 

to this document. If no appeal is received, the Pinelands Commission may either approve the 

recommendation of the Executive Director or refer the application to the New Jersey Office of 

Administrative Law for a hearing. 

 

Prior to any development, the applicant shall obtain any other necessary permits and approvals. 

 

 Sincerely, 

 

 

 

 Charles M. Horner, P.P. 

 Director of Regulatory Programs 

 

Enc: Appeal Procedure 

 

c: Secretary, Upper Township Planning Board (via email) 

 Upper Township Construction Code Official (via email) 

 Secretary, Cape May County Planning Board (via email) 

  

 



 

 

PUBLIC DEVELOPMENT APPLICATION REPORT 

 

       April 18, 2019 

 

Brenna Fairfax (via email) 

NJ Department of Transportation 

1035 Parkway Avenue 

Trenton, NJ 08625 

 

Application No.: 2017-0191.001 

   State Route 49 

   Upper Township 

 

This application proposes construction of an electronic traffic advisory sign with associated 

development within the State Route 49 right-of-way in Upper Township.    

 

The proposed development associated with the traffic advisory sign includes the construction of 165 

linear feet of guiderail, equipment cabinets, a maintenance vehicle paver pad and the installation of fiber 

optic cable. The applicant indicates that the proposed development will be utilized to inform motorists of 

traffic congestion and to assist the New Jersey Department of Transportation with emergency 

management and congestion mitigation.  

 

STANDARDS 

 

The Commission staff has reviewed the proposed development for consistency with all standards of the 

Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan (CMP). The following reviews the CMP standards that are 

relevant to this application:   

 

Land Use (N.J.A.C. 7:50-5.23(b)14)  

 

The proposed electronic traffic advisory sign is located in a Pinelands Forest Area. The proposed traffic 

advisory sign is permitted in a Pinelands Forest Area.       

 

Vegetation Management Standards (N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.23 & 6.26) 

 

The proposed development will be located within existing maintained grassed road shoulders. The 

proposed soil disturbance is limited to that which is necessary to accommodate the proposed 

development. 

 

The Landscaping and Revegetation guidelines of the CMP recommend the use of grasses that are 

tolerant of droughty, nutrient poor conditions. The applicant proposes to replant non-native lawn grasses 



2 

along the maintained grass road shoulder.   

 

PUBLIC COMMENT 
 

The CMP defines the proposed development as “minor” development. The CMP does not require public 

notice for minor public development applications. The application was designated as complete on the 

Commission’s website on March 6, 2019. The Commission’s public comment period closed on April 12, 

2019. No public comment was submitted to the Commission regarding this application.  

 

CONDITIONS 

 

1. Except as modified by the below conditions, the proposed development shall adhere to 

the plan, consisting of four sheets, prepared by Michael Baker International, Inc. and 

dated as follows: 

 

Sheet 1 - December 5, 2018 

Sheet 2 - December 6, 2018 

Sheet 3 - December 17, 2018 

Sheet 4 - undated 

 

2. Disposal of any construction debris or excess fill may only occur at an appropriately 

licensed facility. 

3. Any proposed revegetation shall adhere to the "Vegetation" standards of the CMP.  

Where appropriate, the applicant is encouraged to utilize the following Pinelands native 

grasses for revegetation: Switch grass, Little bluestem and Broom-sedge. 

4. Prior to any development, the applicant shall obtain any other necessary permits and 

approvals. 

CONCLUSION 

 

As the proposed development conforms to the standards set forth in N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.57, it is 

recommended that the Pinelands Commission APPROVE the proposed development subject to the 

above conditions. 

 



 

 

PINELANDS COMMISSION 

APPEAL PROCEDURE 
 

The Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan (N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.91) provides an interested party the 

right to appeal any determination made the by Executive Director to the Commission in accordance with 

N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.91. An interested party is someone who has a specific property interest sufficient to 

require a hearing on constitutional or statutory grounds. Only appeal requests submitted by someone 

meeting the definition of an interested party will be transmitted to the New Jersey Office of 

Administrative Law for a hearing. Any such appeal must be made in writing to the Commission and 

received at the Commission office no later than 4:00 PM on May 7, 2019 and include the following 

information: 

 

1. the name and address of the person requesting the appeal; 

 

2. the application number; 

 

3. the date on which the determination to be appealed was made; 

 

4. a brief statement of the basis for the appeal; and 

 

5. a certificate of service (a notarized statement) indicating that service of the notice has 

been made, by certified mail, on the clerk of the county, municipal planning board and 

environmental commission with jurisdiction over the property which is subject of this 

decision. 

 

Within 15 days following receipt of a notice of valid appeal, the Executive Director shall initiate the 

procedures for assignment of an Administrative Law Judge to preside at the hearing pursuant to the 

Administrative Procedures Act, N.J.S.A. 52:14B-1 et seq., and the procedures established by the Office 

of Administrative Law.  The time, date and location of such hearing shall be designated by the Office of 

Administrative Law. 

 





 

 

       April 18, 2019 

 

Karen Groehrer, Business Administrator (via email) 

Mullica Township School District 

500 Elwood Road 

Elwood, NJ 08217 

 

 Re: Application # 1987-1299.005 

  Block 3303, Lot 9 

  Mullica Township 

 

Dear Ms. Groehrer: 

 

The Commission staff has completed its review of this application for construction of a 50 stall paved 

parking lot. Enclosed is a copy of a Public Development Application Report. On behalf of the 

Commission’s Executive Director, I am recommending that the Pinelands Commission approve the 

application with conditions at its May 10, 2019 meeting. 

 

Any interested party may appeal this recommendation in accordance with the appeal procedure attached 

to this document. If no appeal is received, the Pinelands Commission may either approve the 

recommendation of the Executive Director or refer the application to the New Jersey Office of 

Administrative Law for a hearing. 

 

Prior to any development, the applicant shall obtain any other necessary permits and approvals. 

 

 Sincerely, 

 

 

 

 Charles M. Horner, P.P. 

 Director of Regulatory Programs 

 

Enc: Appeal Procedure 

 (2) Public comments 

c: Secretary, Mullica Township Planning Board (via email) 

 Mullica Township Construction Code Official (via email) 

 Mullica Township Environmental Commission (via email) 

 Atlantic County Department of Regional Planning and Development (via email) 

 John Szuba (via email) 

 Beth Kenderdine (via email) 



 William B. Edwards, PE (via email) 

 Joy Ramer 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

PUBLIC DEVELOPMENT APPLICATION REPORT 

 

       April 18, 2019 

Karen Groehrer, Business Administrator (via email) 

Mullica Township School District 

500 Elwood Road 

Elwood, NJ 08217 

 

Application No.: 1987-1299.005 

   Block 3303, Lot 9 

   Mullica Township 

 

This application proposes construction of a 50 stall paved parking lot located on the above referenced 

15.41 acre parcel in Mullica Township.  The Mullica Township Primary School is located on the parcel.  

 

This application also proposes the construction of approximately 400 linear feet of paved walkway, four 

to nine feet in width. 

 

STANDARDS 

 

The Commission staff has reviewed the proposed development for consistency with all standards of the 

Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan (CMP). The following reviews the CMP standards that are 

relevant to this application:   

 

Land Use (N.J.A.C. 7:50-5.27) 

 

The proposed development is located in the Pinelands Village of Elwood. The proposed development is 

a permitted land use in a Pinelands Village Management Area.  

 

Vegetation Management Standards (N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.23 & 6.26) 

 

The proposed development will be located within existing wooded and maintained grassed areas.  

Approximately 0.72 acres of forest will be cleared to accommodate the proposed development. The 

proposed clearing and soil disturbance is limited to that which is necessary to accommodate the 

development. 

 

The Landscaping and Revegetation guidelines of the CMP recommend the use of grasses that are 

tolerant of droughty, nutrient poor conditions. The applicant proposes to utilize a seed mixture that 

meets this recommendation. 

 

 



2 

 

Water Quality Standard (N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.83) 

 

The existing school is serviced by an on-site septic system. The applicant has demonstrated that the 

existing and proposed development on the parcel will be consistent with the groundwater quality (septic 

dilution) standard of the CMP. 

 

Stormwater Management Standards (N.J.A.C.7:50-6.84(a)6) 

 

The applicant has demonstrated that the proposed development is consistent with the stormwater 

management standards contained in the CMP. To meet the stormwater management standards, the 

applicant will be enlarging an existing stormwater infiltration basin. 

 

PUBLIC COMMENT 
 

The applicant has provided the requisite public notices. Notice to required land owners within 200 feet 

of the above referenced parcel was completed on March 16, 2018. Newspaper public notice was 

completed on March 21, 2018. The application was designated as complete on the Commission’s 

website on March 26, 2019. The Commission’s public comment period closed on April 12, 2019. The 

Commission received two written public comments (attached) regarding this application. 

 

Public Commenter One: The commenter requested a copy of the Executive Director’s findings and 

conclusions. 

 

Staff Response:  The commenter will receive a copy of this Executive Director’s Report. 

 

Public Commenter Two: The commenter has concerns over how the proposed parking lot will 

impact stormwater runoff, traffic, noise and light pollution in the 

surrounding neighborhood.  Specifically, the commenter indicated that 

under existing conditions stormwater runs down the school’s rear 

driveway and along Absecon Road and Elm Street, instead of being 

directed into the existing stormwater infiltration basin on the school’s 

parcel. The commenter would like to have this issue addressed as part of 

the current application. The commenter also indicated that the proposed 

parking lot entrance/exits should be connected to the existing driveway to 

keep additional traffic moving at a reasonable speed for the welfare of 

children and neighbors and that road signs should be placed throughout 

the adjoining streets for safety. Lastly, the commenter believes that 

vegetation should be added to Elm Street to help reduce the impacts from 

headlights and noise that may be created by the proposed parking lot. 

 

Staff Response: The applicant’s stormwater management plan demonstrates consistency of 

the proposed development with the stormwater management standards 

contained in the Mullica Township land use ordinance and the CMP. By 

letter dated April 17, 2019, the Professional Engineer for the Mullica 

Township School District indicates that while runoff from the school’s 

existing rear driveway does contribute stormwater runoff to Elm Street, 

the proposed stormwater management design will reduce both the rate and 

volume of runoff to Elm Street from the school parcel. The letter also 



3 

indicates that for a number of reasons not related to the school, there is 

poor drainage along Elm Street.        

 

The Commission staff appreciates the commenter’s concerns regarding 

traffic speeds, road signage, pedestrian safety and vegetation screening for 

noise and light impacts. The regulations of the CMP do not address these 

issues. The commenter may wish to discuss these concerns with an 

appropriate school official. 

 

CONDITIONS 

 

1. Except as modified by the below conditions, the proposed development shall adhere to 

the plan, consisting of eight sheets, prepared by Edwards Engineering Group, all sheets 

dated November 26, 2018 and revised to January 19, 2019. 

2. Any proposed revegetation shall adhere to the "Vegetation" standards of the CMP.  

Where appropriate, the applicant is encouraged to utilize the following Pinelands native 

grasses for revegetation: Switch grass, Little bluestem and Broom-sedge. 

3. Prior to any development, the applicant shall obtain any other necessary permits and 

approvals. 

CONCLUSION 

 

As the proposed development conforms to the standards set forth in N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.57, it is 

recommended that the Pinelands Commission APPROVE the proposed development subject to the 

above conditions. 

 



 

 

PINELANDS COMMISSION 

APPEAL PROCEDURE 
 

The Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan (N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.91) provides an interested party the 

right to appeal any determination made the by Executive Director to the Commission in accordance with 

N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.91. An interested party is someone who has a specific property interest sufficient to 

require a hearing on constitutional or statutory grounds. Only appeal requests submitted by someone 

meeting the definition of an interested party will be transmitted to the New Jersey Office of 

Administrative Law for a hearing. Any such appeal must be made in writing to the Commission and 

received at the Commission office no later than 4:00 PM on May 7, 2019 and include the following 

information: 

 

1. the name and address of the person requesting the appeal; 

 

2. the application number; 

 

3. the date on which the determination to be appealed was made; 

 

4. a brief statement of the basis for the appeal; and 

 

5. a certificate of service (a notarized statement) indicating that service of the notice has 

been made, by certified mail, on the clerk of the county, municipal planning board and 

environmental commission with jurisdiction over the property which is subject of this 

decision. 

 

Within 15 days following receipt of a notice of valid appeal, the Executive Director shall initiate the 

procedures for assignment of an Administrative Law Judge to preside at the hearing pursuant to the 

Administrative Procedures Act, N.J.S.A. 52:14B-1 et seq., and the procedures established by the Office 

of Administrative Law.  The time, date and location of such hearing shall be designated by the Office of 

Administrative Law. 

  



 

 
  



 

 
 



 

 
 



 



 

 



 

 
 



 

 





 

 

       April 18, 2019 

 

Daniel Smith, Business Administrator (via email) 

Pemberton Township Board of Education 

1 Egbert Street 

Pemberton, NJ 08068 

 

 Re: Application # 1985-0641.013 

  Block 839.02, Lot 44.06 

  Pemberton Township 

 

Dear Mr. Smith: 

 

The Commission staff has completed its review of this application for the construction of a 56 stall 

paved parking lot. Enclosed is a copy of a Public Development Application Report.  On behalf of the 

Commission’s Executive Director, I am recommending that the Pinelands Commission approve the 

application with conditions at its May 10, 2019 meeting. 

 

Any interested party may appeal this recommendation in accordance with the appeal procedure attached 

to this document. If no appeal is received, the Pinelands Commission may either approve the 

recommendation of the Executive Director or refer the application to the New Jersey Office of 

Administrative Law for a hearing. 

 

Prior to any development, the applicant shall obtain any other necessary permits and approvals. 

 

 Sincerely, 

 

 

 

 Charles M. Horner, P.P. 

 Director of Regulatory Programs 

 

Enc: Appeal Procedure 

 

c: Secretary, Pemberton Township Planning Board (via email) 

 Pemberton Township Construction Code Official (via email) 

 Pemberton Township Environmental Commission (via email) 

 Secretary, Burlington County Planning Board (via email) 

 Scott Brown (via email) 

  



 

 

PUBLIC DEVELOPMENT APPLICATION REPORT 

 

       April 18, 2019 

 

Daniel Smith, Business Administrator (via email) 

Pemberton Township Board of Education 

1 Egbert Street 

Pemberton, NJ 08068 

 

Application No.: 1985-0641.013 

   Block 839.02, Lot 44.06 

   Pemberton Township 

 

This application proposes the construction of a 56 stall paved parking lot on the above referenced 35.3 

acre parcel in Pemberton Township. The Samuel T. Busansky Elementary School and Howard L. 

Emmons Elementary School are located on the parcel.  

 

STANDARDS 

 

The Commission staff has reviewed the proposed development for consistency with all standards of the 

Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan (CMP). The following reviews the CMP standards that are 

relevant to this application:   

 

Land Use (N.J.A.C. 7:50-5.28) 

 

The proposed development is located in a Pinelands Regional Growth Area.  The proposed parking lot is 

a permitted use in a Pinelands Regional Growth Area.  

 

Wetlands Standards (N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.14) 

 

There are wetlands located on the parcel. All development will be located at least 300 feet from 

wetlands. 

 

Vegetation Management Standards (N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.23 & 6.26) 

 

The proposed development will be located within an existing maintained lawn area. The proposed soil 

disturbance is limited to that which is necessary to accommodate the proposed development. 

 

The Landscaping and Revegetation guidelines of the CMP recommend the use of grasses that are 

tolerant of droughty, nutrient poor conditions. The applicant proposes to utilize a seed mixture which 

meets that recommendation. 



2 

Stormwater Management Standards (N.J.A.C.7:50-6.84(a)6) 

 

The applicant has demonstrated that the proposed development is consistent with the CMP stormwater 

management standards. To meet the stormwater management standards, the applicant will be 

constructing a stormwater infiltration basin. 

 

Cultural Resource Standards (N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.151) 

 

The Commission staff reviewed the application for evidence of cultural resources on the parcel. Based 

upon the lack of potential for significant cultural resources, a cultural resource survey was not required.  

 

PUBLIC COMMENT 
 

The applicant has provided the requisite public notices. Newspaper public notice was completed on 

February 24, 2019. Notice to required land owners within 200 feet of the above referenced parcel was 

completed on February 25, 2019. The application was designated as complete on the Commission’s 

website on March 14, 2019. The Commission’s public comment period closed on April 12, 2019. No 

public comment was submitted to the Commission regarding this application.  

 

CONDITIONS 

 

1. Except as modified by the below conditions, the proposed development shall adhere to the 

plan, consisting of 9 sheets, prepared by Dante Guzzi Engineering Associates, all sheets 

dated November 26, 2018 and revised February 14, 2019. 

 

2. Disposal of any construction debris or excess fill may only occur at an appropriately licensed 

facility. 

 

3. Any proposed revegetation shall adhere to the "Vegetation" standards of the CMP.  Where 

appropriate, the applicant is encouraged to utilize the following Pinelands native grasses for 

revegetation: Switch grass, Little bluestem and Broom-sedge. 

 

4. Prior to any development, the applicant shall obtain any other necessary permits and 

approvals. 

 

5. All development, including clearing and land disturbance, shall be located at least 300 feet 

from wetlands. 

CONCLUSION 

 

As the proposed development conforms to the standards set forth in N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.57, it is 

recommended that the Pinelands Commission APPROVE the proposed development subject to the 

above conditions. 

 



 

 

PINELANDS COMMISSION 

APPEAL PROCEDURE 
 

The Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan (N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.91) provides an interested party the 

right to appeal any determination made the by Executive Director to the Commission in accordance with 

N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.91. An interested party is someone who has a specific property interest sufficient to 

require a hearing on constitutional or statutory grounds. Only appeal requests submitted by someone 

meeting the definition of an interested party will be transmitted to the New Jersey Office of 

Administrative Law for a hearing. Any such appeal must be made in writing to the Commission and 

received at the Commission office no later than 4:00 PM on May 7, 2019 and include the following 

information: 

 

1. the name and address of the person requesting the appeal; 

 

2. the application number; 

 

3. the date on which the determination to be appealed was made; 

 

4. a brief statement of the basis for the appeal; and 

 

5. a certificate of service (a notarized statement) indicating that service of the notice has 

been made, by certified mail, on the clerk of the county, municipal planning board and 

environmental commission with jurisdiction over the property which is subject of this 

decision. 

 

Within 15 days following receipt of a notice of valid appeal, the Executive Director shall initiate the 

procedures for assignment of an Administrative Law Judge to preside at the hearing pursuant to the 

Administrative Procedures Act, N.J.S.A. 52:14B-1 et seq., and the procedures established by the Office 

of Administrative Law.  The time, date and location of such hearing shall be designated by the Office of 

Administrative Law. 

 







Permanent Land Protection 

In 2018, the Commission 
contributed $408,178 from its 
Pinelands Conservation Fund 
(PCF) toward the permanent 
preservation of 579 acres in the 
Pinelands.  
 
Three projects were funded, and 
they are located in Ocean 
Township, Southampton 
Township, Woodland Township 
and Barnegat Township.  The Pinelands Commission provided funds to preserve this 438-

acre  property in Southampton and Woodland townships in 
2018.                                           Photo/Paul Leakan  



In 2018, 10 PDCs were allocated 

by the Commission to eight 
sending area properties.  
 
A total of 31.25 PDCs were sold, 
with an average sales price of 
$36,212 per  PDC.   
 
A total of 39.25 PDCs were 
redeemed for residential 
development in Egg Harbor, 
Hamilton, Shamong, 
Southampton, Tabernacle and 
Waterford townships during 
2018, nearly double the number 
that were redeemed throughout 
the Pinelands Area in 2016 and 
2017 combined.  

Pinelands Development Credit Program 

This farm in Tabernacle Township has been permanently preserved 
through the Pinelands Development Credit Program.   

       Photo/Paul Leakan 



Reviewing Municipal Ordinances 

During 2018, the Commission received and reviewed 177 master plan and 
ordinance amendments from 43 different municipalities and one county. 
 
The Commission staff works closely with Pinelands municipalities to help 
them achieve their objectives in a manner that is consistent with the 
Comprehensive Management Plan.   
 
In 2018, many municipalities were focused on adopting and implementing 
their Housing Elements and Fair Share Plans in order to satisfy their 
affordable housing obligations.   
 
Many redevelopment plans were also adopted as a way of facilitating 
specific development projects or encouraging the rehabilitation of existing 
buildings.  



Long-Term Economic Monitoring Program 

In 2018, the Commission issued a two-
year report that included economic data 
from 2015 and 2016 as part of the Long-
Term Economic Monitoring Program. 
 
Staff also continued to re-examine the 
program, with the assistance of 
stakeholders and by contracting with 
Rutgers University faculty.  
 
As a result of the feedback, the 
Commission will add new variables to the 
program.  
 
Additionally, staff has started to release 
economic data briefs online as the briefs 
are completed rather than waiting to 
issue the information as part of a full 
annual report. 

Economic data briefs such as the one above 
are now available on the Commission’s 
website 



Brotherton Archaeological Investigation 

Above: Ground-penetrating radar surveys 
being undertaken at the Brotherton site. 

The Commission initiated an 
archaeological investigation at 
the former site of the eighteenth 
century Brotherton Reservation 
in Shamong Township. 
 
The Commission partnered with 
the Archaeological Society of 
New Jersey, Temple University, 
three Lenape tribes and 
Shamong Township to conduct 
the investigation. 
 
Archaeologists used ground-
penetrating radar to identify 
buried physical features. The 
data will help to prioritize 
excavations. 



Regulatory Activities 

Of the 134 CFs that were issued in 2018, most involved proposals for 
residential development, followed by commercial development. 



Regulatory Activities 

The Commission 
issued similar 
numbers of CFs 
from 2013 to 2018, 
with the majority 
of the proposals 
for development 
located in Regional 
Growth Areas. 



Regulatory Activities 

The Commission: 
 
 Approved 27 applications for public development in 

2018.  
 

 Issued 21 Recreation Permits for enduros. 
 

 Resolved a total of 99 violations of Pinelands regulations 
in 2018. 

 
 



Science & Research Activities 

In 2018, Commission scientists 
continued to conduct Long-term 
Environmental Monitoring Program 
research.  
 
Scientists continued to measure 
growing-season pH and specific 
conductance in 47 streams on a 
bimonthly basis, as they have done 
since 2006.  

 

Commission scientists monitor 47 streams in the Pinelands, 
including the Batsto River at Hampton Furnace (shown above).                             
   Photo/ John Bunnell 



Science & Research Activities 

Commission scientists completed two 
related studies and prepared a single 
report, titled “Vulnerability and 
Comparability of Natural and Created 
Wetlands.” 
 
Scientists identified and mapped nearly 
6,000 natural ponds, excavated ponds and 
stormwater basins throughout the 
Pinelands. They also assessed the 
vulnerability of these ponds, and evaluated 
damages caused by off-road vehicles. 
 
The Commission can use the results of this 
research to identify and prioritize ponds 
that need enhanced protection and 
evaluate potential planning and regulatory 
measures to better protect these ponds. 



Science & Research Activities 

Joint Corn Snake Study:  
 
In 2017, the Pinelands Commission began 
to collaborate with Herpetological 
Associates, The College of New Jersey, and 
the NJDEP to conduct an intensive research 
project on the corn snake in the Pinelands.  
 
Collaborators continued their work 
throughout 2018.  
 
The goal of the research is to better 
understand the habitat requirements and 
life history of the corn snake in order to 
develop meaningful conservation 
management programs for the species and 
ensure its continued survival in the 
Pinelands. 

Ryan Fitzgerald of Herpetological Associates  
holds two clutches of recently excavated 
corn snake eggs  that were collected as part 
of the corn snake study.   Photo/John Bunnell 



Public Information, Education & Outreach 

Raising Awareness, Fostering 
Stewardship:  
 
In 2018, the Commission’s staff organized 
and executed more than a dozen 
educational programs that raised 
awareness and appreciation of the 
Pinelands. 
 
This included in-class presentations and 
special events such as the spring and 
summer Pinelands Short Courses. 
 
Staff educated more than 2,300 people 
about the Pinelands and responded to 
over 600 public inquiries about 
recreation and other non-development 
application questions in 2018. 

Joel Mott, a Principal Public Programs Specialist 
with the Commission, provided an overview of 
the Pinelands during the second annual 
Pinelands Summer Short Course in Hammonton.    
                                                    Photo/Paul Leakan             



Public Information, Education & Outreach 

Contractors installed the new Candace McKee Ashmun Pinelands Education 
Exhibit at the Commission’s headquarters in 2018. 



 

Record of Commission Votes 

 AYE NAY NP A/R*  AYE NAY NP A/R*  AYE NAY NP A/R* 

Ashmun     Howell     Pikolycky     
Avery     Irick     Quinn     

Barr     Jannarone     Rohan Green     
Christy     Lloyd     Prickett     
Earlen     Lohbauer          

      *A = Abstained / R = Recused 

 

Adopted at a meeting of the Pinelands Commission  Date: ________________________ 

 

   

Nancy Wittenberg  Richard Prickett 

Executive Director  Chairman 
 

 

 

RESOLUTION OF THE NEW JERSEY PINELANDS COMMISSION  
 

NO. PC4-199-_____________ 

 

TITLE:  Approving With Conditions an Application for Public Development (Application Number 

1981-0545.013) 

 

Commissioner _______________________________ moves and Commissioner_____________________________ 

seconds the motion that: 
 

WHEREAS, the Pinelands Commission has reviewed the Public Development Application Report and 

the recommendation of the Executive Director that the following application for Public Development be 

approved with conditions: 

 

1981-0545.013 

Applicant: Hamilton Township Municipal Utilities Authority 

Municipality: Hamilton Township 

Management Area: Pinelands Regional Growth Area 

Date of Report:  May 24, 2019 

Proposed Development: Construction of a 3,709 square foot addition to an existing 

operations building. 

 

WHEREAS, no request for a hearing before the Office of Administrative Law concerning the Executive 

Director’s recommendation has been received for this application; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Pinelands Commission hereby adopts the Conclusion of the Executive Director for the 

proposed development; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Pinelands Commission hereby determines that the proposed public development 

conforms to the standards for approving an application for public development set forth in N.J.A.C. 

7:50-4.57 if the conditions recommended by the Executive Director are imposed; and 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to N.J.S.A. 13A-5h, no action authorized by the Commission shall have force or 

effect until ten (10) days, Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays excepted, after a copy of the minutes 

of the meeting of the Commission has been delivered to the Governor for review, unless prior to 

expiration of the review period and Governor shall approve same, in which case the action shall become 

effective upon such approval. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that Application Number 1981-0545.013 for public 

development is hereby approved subject to the conditions recommended by the Executive Director. 

 



 

 

       May 24, 2019 

 

Stephen Blankenship (via email) 

Hamilton Township Municipal Utilities Authority 

6024 Ken Scull Avenue 

Mays Landing, NJ 08330 

 

 Re: Application # 1981-0545.013 

  Block 809, Lot 31 

  Hamilton Township 

 

Dear Mr. Blankenship: 

 

The Commission staff has completed its review of this application for construction of a 3,709 square 

foot addition to an existing operations building. Enclosed is a copy of a Public Development Application 

Report.  On behalf of the Commission’s Executive Director, I am recommending that the Pinelands 

Commission approve the application with conditions at its June 14, 2019 meeting. 

 

Any interested party may appeal this recommendation in accordance with the appeal procedure attached 

to this document. If no appeal is received, the Pinelands Commission may either approve the 

recommendation of the Executive Director or refer the application to the New Jersey Office of 

Administrative Law for a hearing. 

 

Prior to any development, the applicant shall obtain any other necessary permits and approvals. 

 

 Sincerely, 

 

 

 

 Charles M. Horner, P.P. 

 Director of Regulatory Programs 

 

Enc: Appeal Procedure 

 

c: Secretary, Hamilton Township Planning Board (via email) 

 Hamilton Township Construction Code Official (via email) 

 Atlantic County Department of Regional Planning and Development (via email) 

 Vincent J. Polistina, PE, PP, CME (via email) 

  

 



 

 

PUBLIC DEVELOPMENT APPLICATION REPORT 

 

       May 24, 2019 

 

Stephen Blankenship (via email) 

Hamilton Township Municipal Utilities Authority 

6024 Ken Scull Avenue 

Mays Landing, NJ 08330 

 

Application No.: 1981-0545.013 

   Block 809, Lot 31 

   Hamilton Township 

 

This application proposes construction of a 3,709 square foot addition to an existing operations building 

on the above referenced 11.79 acre parcel in Hamilton Township.  The Hamilton Township Municipal 

Utilities Authority (HTMUA) sewage treatment plant was located on the parcel until 1992.  The parcel 

is currently used as a HTMUA operations, maintenance and storage facility. 

 

The application also proposes a 5,990 square foot expansion of an existing approximately 3,100 square 

foot paved parking area.   

 

STANDARDS 

 

The Commission staff has reviewed the proposed development for consistency with all standards of the 

Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan (CMP). The following reviews the CMP standards that are 

relevant to this application:   

 

Land Use (N.J.A.C. 7:50-5.28(a)) 

 

The parcel is located in a Pinelands Regional Growth Area. The proposed development is a permitted 

land use in a Pinelands Regional Growth Area. 

 

Wetlands Standards (N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.14) 

 

There are wetlands located on the parcel. The proposed development will be located no closer to 

wetlands than existing development. The proposed development will not result in a significant adverse 

impact on the wetlands. 

 

Vegetation Management Standards (N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.23 & 6.26) 

 

The proposed development will be located within existing developed and maintained grassed areas. The 



2 

proposed soil disturbance is limited to that which is necessary to accommodate the proposed 

development. 

 

The Landscaping and Revegetation guidelines of the CMP recommend the use of grasses that are 

tolerant of droughty, nutrient poor conditions. To stabilize disturbed areas, the applicant proposes to 

utilize a seed mixture which meets that recommendation. 

 

Stormwater Management Standards (N.J.A.C.7:50-6.84(a)6) 

 

The applicant has demonstrated that the proposed development is consistent with the CMP stormwater 

management standards. To meet the stormwater management standards, the applicant proposes to 

construct a stormwater infiltration basin. 

 

PUBLIC COMMENT 
 

The applicant has provided the requisite public notice. Notice to required land owners within 200 feet of 

the above referenced parcel was completed on March 28, 2019. Newspaper public notice was completed 

on March 30, 2019. The application was designated as complete on the Commission’s website on April 

12, 2019. The Commission’s public comment period closed on May 10, 2019. No public comment was 

submitted to the Commission regarding this application. 

 

CONDITIONS 

 

1. Except as modified by the below conditions, the proposed development shall adhere to 

the plan, consisting of eight sheets, prepared by Polistina & Associates, LLC and dated as 

follows: 

 

Sheet 1 - March 2019 

Sheets 2-8 - January 28, 2019, revised to March 27, 2019 

 

2. Disposal of any construction debris or excess fill may only occur at an appropriately 

licensed facility. 

3. Any proposed revegetation shall adhere to the "Vegetation" standards of the CMP.  

Where appropriate, the applicant is encouraged to utilize the following Pinelands native 

grasses for revegetation: Switch grass, Little bluestem and Broom-sedge. 

4. Prior to any development, the applicant shall obtain any other necessary permits and 

approvals. 

CONCLUSION 

 

As the proposed development conforms to the standards set forth in N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.57, it is 

recommended that the Pinelands Commission APPROVE the proposed development subject to the 

above conditions.



 

 

PINELANDS COMMISSION 

APPEAL PROCEDURE 
 

The Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan (N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.91) provides an interested party the 

right to appeal any determination made the by Executive Director to the Commission in accordance with 

N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.91. An interested party is someone who has a specific property interest sufficient to 

require a hearing on constitutional or statutory grounds. Only appeal requests submitted by someone 

meeting the definition of an interested party will be transmitted to the New Jersey Office of 

Administrative Law for a hearing. Any such appeal must be made in writing to the Commission and 

received at the Commission’s office no later than 4:00 PM on June 11, 2019 and include the following 

information: 

 

1. the name and address of the person requesting the appeal; 

 

2. the application number; 

 

3. the date on which the determination to be appealed was made; 

 

4. a brief statement of the basis for the appeal; and 

 

5. a certificate of service (a notarized statement) indicating that service of the notice has 

been made, by certified mail, on the clerk of the county, municipal planning board and 

environmental commission with jurisdiction over the property which is subject of this 

decision. 

 

Within 15 days following receipt of a notice of valid appeal, the Executive Director shall initiate the 

procedures for assignment of an Administrative Law Judge to preside at the hearing pursuant to the 

Administrative Procedures Act, N.J.S.A. 52:14B-1 et seq., and the procedures established by the Office 

of Administrative Law.  The time, date and location of such hearing shall be designated by the Office of 

Administrative Law. 

 



 

 

AMENDED LETTER OF INTERPRETATION #2046 

 

       May 20, 2019 

 

 

United States of America, Acting through the Farm Service Agency (via email) 

300 Clocktower Drive, Suite 202 

Hamilton Square, NJ 08690 

 

 

 Re: Application # 2010-0042.001 

  Block 6503, Lot 26 

Piney Hollow Road 

  Franklin Township 

 

FINDINGS OF FACT 
 

The applicant owns the above referenced 23 acre parcel in Franklin Township. This acreage is based on 

the recorded property deed. The parcel is located in a Pinelands Agricultural Production Area. Pursuant 

to N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.72(a)1, the applicant requesting a Letter of Interpretation (LOI) as to the number of 

Pinelands Development Credits (PDCs) which are allocated to this parcel. 

 

On August 25, 2010, the Commission issued LOI #2046 allocating 1.0 PDCs to Block 6503, Lot 26. The 

PDC allocation for LOI #2046 indicated that Block 6503, Lot 26 was in common ownership on or after 

January 14, 1981 with contiguous 0.86 acre Block 6503, Lot 27. LOI #2046 further indicated that Block 

6503, Lot 27 contained a single family dwelling. Based upon CMP regulations in effect on August 25, 

2010 and the existing single family dwelling on Block 6503, Lot 27, the PDC allocation to Block 6503, 

Lot 26 was reduced by 0.25 PDCs. That LOI expired on August 25, 2015.  

 

The Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan (CMP, N.J.A.C. 7:50-5.43(b)4) was amended in 2014 

to provide that PDC allocations shall be calculated for a parcel as it exists at the time an application for 

an LOI is submitted to the Commission. This LOI is based upon that CMP amendment. This Amended 

LOI #2046 replaces the August 25, 2010 LOI #2046. 

 

The entire 23 acre parcel consists of uplands. There are several buildings accessory to an agricultural use 

on the parcel. There are no easements limiting the use of this parcel to non-residential uses. No resource 

extraction operation or other development has been approved for this parcel pursuant to the provisions 

of the CMP. 

 

 



2 

CONCLUSION 
 

The CMP grants, with certain exceptions, to every parcel of land in a Pinelands Agricultural Production 

Area, a use right known as "Pinelands Development Credits," that can be used to secure a residential 

density bonus for lands located in Pinelands Regional Growth Areas (N.J.A.C. 7:50-5.43). None of these 

exceptions apply to this parcel. 

 

The CMP establishes the ratio by which PDCs are allocated in a Pinelands Agricultural Production Area 

(N.J.A.C. 7:50-5.43(b)2). Two PDCs are allocated for every 39 acres of uplands, except for uplands 

which are mined as a result of a resource extraction permit approved pursuant to the provisions of the 

CMP; for areas of active berry agricultural bogs and fields and for wetlands in active field agricultural 

use as of February 7, 1979.  There are 0.2 PDCs allocated for every 39 acres of other wetlands. 

 

For the 23 acres of uplands, the parcel would be entitled to 1.18 PDCs allocated to this parcel. 

 

PDCs are transacted (allocated, severed and redeemed), with limited exceptions, in 0.25 PDC 

increments (0.25 PDC = 1 dwelling unit).  

 

Therefore, there are 1.25 PDCs allocated to Block 6503, Lot 26. 

 

This LOI for an allocation of PDCs is valid for five years from the date of issuance (N.J.A.C. 7:50-

4.76(b)). 

 

APPEAL 
 

The CMP (N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.55) provides an interested party the right to appeal this LOI in accordance 

with N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.91.  An interested party is someone who has a specific property interest sufficient 

to require a hearing on constitutional or statutory grounds. Only appeal requests submitted by someone 

meeting the definition of an interested party will be transmitted to the New Jersey Office of 

Administrative Law for hearing. Any such appeal must be made in writing to the Commission within 

eighteen days of the date of this LOI and must include the following information: 

 

1. the name and address of the person making the appeal;  

 

2. the application number; 

 

3. a brief statement of the basis for the appeal; and 

 

4. a certificate of service (a notarized statement) indicating that service of the notice has 

been made, by certified mail, on the clerk of the county, municipal planning board and 

environmental commission with jurisdiction over the property which is subject of this 

decision. 

 

If no appeal is received within eighteen days of the date of this LOI, the LOI shall become binding. 

 

  



3 

If you are interested in “severing” the allocated PDCs from the parcel and/or information regarding the 

sale of PDCs, please visit the Pinelands Development Credit Bank’s website at 

http://www.nj.gov/pinelands/pdcbank/ or contact the PDC Bank at 609-894-7300. 

 

       Sincerely, 

 

 

 

       Charles M. Horner, P. P.  

       Director of Regulatory Programs 

 

c: Secretary, Franklin Township Planning Board (via email) 

 Franklin Township Construction Code Official (via email) 

 Franklin Township Environmental Commission (via email) 

 Secretary, Gloucester County Planning Board (via email) 

 Susan R. Grogan, Executive Director, PDC Bank (via email) 

  

 



 

 

AMENDED LETTER OF INTERPRETATION #264 

(Renewal) 

 

       May 28, 2019 

 

Albertus & Cathy Pepper, Jr. 

P.O. Box 466 

Chatsworth, NJ 08019 

 

 Re: Application # 1983-4203.001 

  Block 4602, Lots 3, 4, 7 & 8 

  Chatsworth Road 

  Woodland Township 

 

FINDINGS OF FACT 
 

The applicants own the above referenced 47.81 acre parcel in Woodland Township. This acreage is 

based on the municipal tax map. The parcel is located in a Pinelands Special Agricultural Production 

Area. Pursuant to N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.72(a)1, the applicants are requesting a Letter of Interpretation (LOI) 

as to the number of Pinelands Development Credits (PDCs) which are allocated to this parcel. 

 

On October 12, 1983, the Commission issued LOI #264 allocating a total of 1.25 PDCs to 20.58 acre 

Block 4602, Lot 8. That LOI expired on October 12, 1985. The applicants then requested an Amended 

LOI to reflect a change in property ownership and to include contiguous Block 4602, Lots 3, 4 and 7.  

Amended LOI #264 was issued on March 14, 2014 allocating 2.0 PDCs to a 47.81 acre parcel.  

Amended LOI #264 expired on March 14, 2019. This Amended LOI #264 (Renewal) replaces the now 

expired March 14, 2014 Amended LOI #264. 

 

The parcel consists of 45.57 acres of wetlands in active berry agriculture. The active berry agriculture in 

wetlands was established prior to February 7, 1979. The remaining 2.24 acres are other wetlands as 

defined by N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.5(a). The applicants reserve the right to undertake field mapping to further 

refine the acreage of uplands and wetlands on the parcel. A single family dwelling exists on Block 4602, 

Lot 3 and two other structures accessory to the agricultural use exist on the parcel. There are no 

easements limiting the use of this parcel to non-residential uses. No resource extraction operation or 

other development has been approved for this parcel pursuant to the provisions of the CMP. 

 

CONCLUSION 
 

The CMP grants, with certain exceptions, to every parcel of land in a Pinelands Special Agricultural 

Production Area, a use right known as "Pinelands Development Credits," that can be used to secure a 



2 

density bonus for lands located in Regional Growth Areas (N.J.A.C. 7:50-5.43). None of these 

exceptions apply to this parcel. 

 

The CMP establishes the ratio by which PDCs are allocated in a Pinelands Special Agricultural 

Production Area (N.J.A.C. 7:50-5.43(b)2). Two PDCs are allocated for every 39 acres of uplands, 

except for uplands which are mined as a result of a resource extraction permit approved pursuant to the 

provisions of the Plan; for areas of active berry agricultural bogs and fields and for wetlands in active 

field agricultural use as of February 7, 1979. There are 0.2 PDCs allocated for every 39 acres of other 

wetlands. 

 

For the 45.57 acres of wetlands in active berry agriculture, the applicant would be entitled to 2.34 PDCs. 

For the remaining 2.24 acres of other wetlands, the applicant would be entitled to 0.01 PDCs. There 

would be 2.35 PDCs allocated to this parcel. 

 

However, the CMP (N.J.A.C. 7:50-5.43(b)3ii) requires that the PDC entitlement be reduced by 0.25 

PDCs for each existing dwelling unit on the parcel. Based upon the existing dwelling on Block 4602, 

Lot 3, there would be 2.1 PDCs allocated to the parcel. 

 

PDCs are transacted (allocated, severed and redeemed), with limited exceptions, in 0.25 PDC 

increments (0.25 PDC = 1 dwelling unit).  

 

Therefore, there are 2.0 PDCs allocated to Block 4602, Lots 3, 4, 7 and 8. 

 

This LOI for an allocation of PDCs is valid for five years from the date of issuance (N.J.A.C. 7:50-

4.76(b)). 

 

APPEAL 
 

The CMP (N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.55) provides an interested party the right to appeal this LOI in accordance 

with N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.91. An interested party is someone who has a specific property interest sufficient 

to require a hearing on constitutional or statutory grounds. Only appeal requests submitted by someone 

meeting the definition of an interested party will be transmitted to the New Jersey Office of 

Administrative Law for hearing. Any such appeal must be made in writing to the Commission within 

eighteen days of the date of this LOI and must include the following information: 

 

1. the name and address of the person making the appeal;  

 

2. the application number; 

 

3. a brief statement of the basis for the appeal; and 

 

4. a certificate of service (a notarized statement) indicating that service of the notice has 

been made, by certified mail, on the clerk of the county, municipal planning board and 

environmental commission with jurisdiction over the property which is subject of this 

decision. 

 

If no appeal is received within eighteen days of the date of this LOI, the LOI shall become binding. 

 



3 

If you are interested in “severing” the allocated PDCs from the parcel and/or information regarding the 

sale of PDCs, please visit the Pinelands Development Credit Bank’s website at 

http://www.nj.gov/pinelands/pdcbank/ or contact the PDC Bank at 609-894-7300. 

 

 Sincerely, 

 

 

 

 Charles M. Horner, P.P. 

 Director of Regulatory Programs 

 

c: Secretary, Woodland Township Planning Board (via email) 

 Woodland Township Construction Code Official (via email) 

 Secretary, Burlington County Planning Board (via email) 

 Susan R. Grogan, Executive Director, PDC Bank (via email) 

  

 



 

 

LETTER OF INTERPRETATION #2177 

 

       May 21, 2019 

 

 

Edward Allen 

260 Landing Street 

Southampton, NJ 08088 

 

 

 Re: Application # 2019-0044.001 

  Block 812, Lot 5.05 

  Pointville Road 

  Pemberton Township 

 

 

FINDINGS OF FACT 
 

The applicant owns the above referenced 29.85 acre parcel in Pemberton Township. This acreage is 

based on the Township tax map. The parcel is located in a Pinelands Agricultural Production Area.  

Pursuant to N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.72(a)1, the applicant is requesting a Letter of Interpretation (LOI) as to the 

number of Pinelands Development Credits (PDCs) which are allocated to this parcel. 

 

The parcel contains 12.63 acres of uplands and 14.88 acres of wetland soils in active field agriculture. 

The active field agriculture in wetland soils was established prior to February 7, 1979. The remaining 

2.34 acres are wetlands as defined by N.J.A.C. 7:50-6.5(a). The applicant reserves the right to undertake 

field mapping to further refine the acreage of uplands and wetlands on the parcel. There are no 

easements limiting the use of this parcel to nonresidential uses. The parcel is vacant. No resource 

extraction operation or other development has been approved for this parcel pursuant to the provisions 

of the Comprehensive Management Plan (CMP). The applicant wishes to reserve the right to develop 

one future single family dwelling on the parcel. 

 

CONCLUSION 
 

The CMP grants, with certain exceptions, to every parcel of land in a Pinelands Agricultural Production 

Area, a use right known as "Pinelands Development Credits," that can be used to secure a density bonus 

for lands located in a Pinelands Regional Growth Area (N.J.A.C. 7:50-5.43). None of these exceptions 

apply to this parcel. 

 



2 

The CMP establishes the ratio by which PDCs are allocated in a Pinelands Agricultural Production Area 

(N.J.A.C. 7:50-5.43(b)2). Two PDCs are allocated for every 39 acres of uplands, except for uplands 

which are mined as a result of a resource extraction permit approved pursuant to the provisions of the 

CMP; for areas of active berry agricultural bogs and fields and for wetlands in active field agricultural 

use as of February 7, 1979. There are 0.2 PDCs allocated for every 39 acres of other wetlands. 

 

For the 12.63 acres of uplands, the applicant would be entitled to 0.65 PDCs. For the 14.88 acres of 

wetland soils in active field agriculture, the applicant would be entitled to 0.76 PDCs. For the 2.34 acres 

of other wetlands, the applicant would be entitled to 0.01 PDCs. 

 

Not considering the reserved right for a future dwelling on the parcel, there would be 1.42 PDCs 

allocated to this parcel. However, the CMP (N.J.A.C. 7:50-5.43(b)3iii) requires that the PDC entitlement 

be reduced by 0.25 PDCs for each reserved right to develop a future single family dwelling on the 

parcel. Based upon this reduction, there would be 1.17 PDCs allocated to the parcel. 

 

PDCs are transacted (allocated, severed and redeemed), with limited exceptions, in 0.25 PDC 

increments (0.25 PDC = 1 dwelling unit).  

 

Therefore, there are 1.25 PDCs allocated to Block 812, Lot 5.05. 

 

This LOI for an allocation of PDCs is valid for five years from the date of issuance (N.J.A.C. 7:50-

4.76(b)). 

 

APPEAL 
 

The CMP (N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.55) provides an interested party the right to appeal this LOI in accordance 

with N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.91. An interested party is someone who has a specific property interest sufficient 

to require a hearing on constitutional or statutory grounds. Only appeal requests submitted by someone 

meeting the definition of an interested party will be transmitted to the New Jersey Office of 

Administrative Law for hearing. Any such appeal must be made in writing to the Commission within 

eighteen days of the date of this LOI and must include the following information: 

 

1. the name and address of the person making the appeal;  

 

2. the application number; 

 

3. a brief statement of the basis for the appeal; and 

 

4. a certificate of service (a notarized statement) indicating that service of the notice has 

been made, by certified mail, on the clerk of the county, municipal planning board and 

environmental commission with jurisdiction over the property which is subject of this 

decision. 

 

If no appeal is received within eighteen days of the date of this LOI, the LOI shall become binding. 

 

  



3 

If you are interested in “severing” the allocated PDCs from the parcel and/or information regarding the 

sale of PDCs, please visit the Pinelands Development Credit Bank’s website at 

http://www.nj.gov/pinelands/pdcbank/ or contact the PDC Bank at 609-894-7300. 

 

 Sincerely, 

 

 

 

 Charles M. Horner, P.P. 

 Director of Regulatory Programs 

 

c: Secretary, Pemberton Township Planning Board (via email) 

 Pemberton Township Construction Code Official (via email) 

 Pemberton Township Environmental Commission (via email) 

 Secretary, Burlington County Planning Board (via email) 

 Susan R. Grogan, Executive Director, PDC Bank (via email) 

  

 



 

 

LETTER OF INTERPRETATION #2178 

 

       May 21, 2019 

 

United States of America, Acting through the Farm Service Agency (via email) 

300 Clocktower Drive, Suite 202 

Hamilton Square, NJ 08690 

 

 Re: Application # 1981-2257.002 

  Block 6402, Lot 25 

  Victoria Avenue 

  Franklin Township 

 

FINDINGS OF FACT 
 

The applicant owns the above referenced 20.36 acre parcel in Franklin Township. This acreage is based 

on the recorded property deed. The parcel is located in a Pinelands Agricultural Production Area.  

Pursuant to N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.72(a)1, the applicant is requesting a Letter of Interpretation (LOI) as to the 

number of Pinelands Development Credits (PDCs) which are allocated to this parcel. 

 

The parcel consists of 16.72 acres of uplands and 3.64 acres of wetlands soils in active field agriculture. 

The active field agriculture in wetland soils was established prior to February 7, 1979. The applicant 

reserves the right to undertake field mapping to further refine the acreage of uplands and wetlands on the 

parcel. The parcel is vacant. No resource extraction operation has been approved for this parcel pursuant 

to the provisions of the CMP. 

 

An application for a two lot subdivision and no further development of original Block 6402, Lots 24 and 

25 was previously approved pursuant to the provisions of the CMP (Application No. 1981-2257.001). 

As a result of that subdivision, current Block 6402, Lot 25 was created. 

 

CONCLUSION 
 

The CMP grants, with certain exceptions, to every parcel of land in a Pinelands Agricultural Production 

Area, a use right known as "Pinelands Development Credits," that can be used to secure a density bonus 

for lands located in a Pineland Regional Growth Areas (N.J.A.C. 7:50-5.43). None of these exceptions 

apply to this parcel. 

 

The CMP establishes the ratio by which PDCs are allocated in a Pinelands Agricultural Production Area 

(N.J.A.C. 7:50-5.43(b)2). Two PDCs are allocated for every 39 acres of uplands, except for uplands 

which are mined as a result of a resource extraction permit approved pursuant to the provisions of the 



2 

CMP; for areas of active berry agricultural bogs and fields and for wetlands in active field agricultural 

use as of February 7, 1979. There are 0.2 PDCs allocated for every 39 acres of other wetlands. 

For the 16.72 acres of uplands, the applicant would be entitled to 0.86 PDCs. For the 3.64 acres of 

wetland soils in active field agriculture, the applicant would be entitled to 0.19 PDCs. There would be 

1.05 PDCs allocated to this parcel. 

 

PDCs are transacted (allocated, severed and redeemed), with limited exceptions, in 0.25 PDC 

increments (0.25 PDC = 1 dwelling unit).  

 

Therefore, there are 1.0 PDCs allocated to Block 6402, Lot 25. 

 

This LOI for an allocation of PDCs is valid for five years from the date of issuance (N.J.A.C. 7:50-

4.76(b)). 

 

APPEAL 
 

The CMP (N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.55) provides an interested party the right to appeal this LOI in accordance 

with N.J.A.C. 7:50-4.91. An interested party is someone who has a specific property interest sufficient 

to require a hearing on constitutional or statutory grounds. Only appeal requests submitted by someone 

meeting the definition of an interested party will be transmitted to the New Jersey Office of 

Administrative Law for hearing. Any such appeal must be made in writing to the Commission within 

eighteen days of the date of this LOI and must include the following information: 

 

1. the name and address of the person making the appeal;  

 

2. the application number; 

 

3. a brief statement of the basis for the appeal; and 

 

4. a certificate of service (a notarized statement) indicating that service of the notice has 

been made, by certified mail, on the clerk of the county, municipal planning board and 

environmental commission with jurisdiction over the property which is subject of this 

decision. 

 

If no appeal is received within eighteen days of the date of this LOI, the LOI shall become binding. 

 

If you are interested in “severing” the allocated PDCs from the parcel and/or information regarding the 

sale of PDCs, please visit the Pinelands Development Credit Bank’s website at 

http://www.nj.gov/pinelands/pdcbank/ or contact the PDC Bank at 609-894-7300. 

 

 Sincerely, 

 

 

 

 Charles M. Horner, P.P. 

 Director of Regulatory Programs 

 

c: Secretary, Franklin Township Planning Board (via email) 

 Franklin Township Construction Code Official (via email) 



3 

 Franklin Township Environmental Commission (via email) 

 Secretary, Gloucester County Planning Board (via email) 

 Susan R. Grogan, Executive Director, PDC Bank (via email) 

 Kevin P. Murphy, Chief of Farm Loan Programs (via email) 

  

 



 

 

RESOLUTION OF THE NEW JERSEY PINELANDS COMMISSION 
 

NO. PC4-19-_____________ 

 

 

TITLE: Issuing an Order to Certify Ordinance 2019-01, Amending Chapter 185 (Zoning) of the Code of  

Dennis Township 

 

 

Commissioner ______________________________ moves and Commissioner ___________________________ 

seconds the motion that: 
 

 

 

WHEREAS, on September 9, 1983, the Pinelands Commission fully certified the Master Plan and Land 

Use Ordinances of Dennis Township; and 

 

WHEREAS, Resolution #PC4-83-77 of the Pinelands Commission specified that any amendment to the 

Township’s certified Master Plan and Land Use Ordinances be submitted to the Executive Director in 

accordance with N.J.A.C. 7:50-3.45 (Submission and Review of Amendments to Certified Master Plans 

and Land Use Ordinances) of the Comprehensive Management Plan to determine if said amendment 

raises a substantial issue with respect to conformance with the Pinelands Comprehensive Management 

Plan; and 

 

WHEREAS, Resolution #PC4-83-77 further specified that any such amendment shall only become 

effective as provided in N.J.A.C. 7:50-3.45 of the Comprehensive Management Plan; and 

 

WHEREAS, on March 26, 2019, Dennis Township adopted Ordinance 2019-01, amending Chapter 185 

(Zoning) of the Township’s Code by revising the boundaries of the PV (Pinelands Village), PF8 

(Moderate-Density Forest) and PF25 (Low-Density Forest) Districts, within the Pinelands Area; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Pinelands Commission received a certified copy of Ordinance 2019-01 on March 27, 

2019; and 

 

WHEREAS, by letter dated April 1, 2019, the Executive Director notified the Township that Ordinance 

2019-01 would require formal review and approval by the Pinelands Commission; and 

 

WHEREAS, a public hearing to receive testimony on Ordinance 2019-01 was duly advertised, noticed 

and held on May 1, 2019 at the Richard J. Sullivan Center, 15C Springfield Road, New Lisbon, New 

Jersey at 9:30 a.m.; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Executive Director has found that Dennis Township Ordinance 2019-01 is consistent 

with the standards and provisions of the Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Executive Director has submitted a report to the Commission recommending issuance 

of an order to certify that Ordinance 2019-01, amending Chapter 185 (Zoning) of the Code of Dennis 

Township, is in conformance with the Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Commission’s CMP Policy and Implementation Committee has reviewed the 

Executive Director’s report and has recommended that Ordinance 2019-01 be certified; and  

 

WHEREAS, the Pinelands Commission has duly considered all public testimony submitted to the 

Commission concerning Ordinance 2019-01 and has reviewed the Executive Director’s report; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Pinelands Commission accepts the recommendation of the Executive Director; and 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to N.J.S.A. 13:18A-5h, no action authorized by the Commission shall have force 

or effect until ten (10) days, Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays excepted, after a copy of the 

minutes of the meeting of the Commission has been delivered to the Governor for review, unless prior to 

expiration of the review period the Governor shall approve same, in which case the action shall become 

effective upon such approval. 

 



 

Record of Commission Votes 

 AYE NAY NP A/R*  AYE NAY NP A/R*  AYE NAY NP A/R* 

Ashmun     Howell     Pikolycky     
Avery     Irick     Quinn     

Barr     Jannarone     Rohan Green     
Christy     Lloyd     Prickett     
Earlen     Lohbauer          

      *A = Abstained / R = Recused 

 

Adopted at a meeting of the Pinelands Commission  Date: ________________________ 

 

   

Nancy Wittenberg  Richard Prickett 

Executive Director  Chairman 
 

 

2 

 

 

 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that  

 

1. An Order is hereby issued to certify that Ordinance 2019-01, amending Chapter 185 (Zoning) of 

the Code of Dennis Township, is in conformance with the Pinelands Comprehensive 

Management Plan.  

 

2. Any additional amendments to Dennis Township’s certified Master Plan and Land Use 

Ordinances shall be submitted to the Executive Director in accordance with N.J.A.C. 7:50-3.45 

to determine if said amendments raise a substantial issue with respect to the Comprehensive 

Management Plan. Any such amendment shall become effective only as provided in N.J.A.C. 

7:50-3.45.  

 
 

 

 

 

 



 

REPORT ON ORDINANCE 2019-01, AMENDING CHAPTER 185 (ZONING) 

OF THE CODE OF DENNIS TOWNSHIP 

 

       May 31, 2019 

 

 

Dennis Township 

P.O. Box 204 

Dennisville, NJ  08214 

 

FINDINGS OF FACT 

 

I. Background 

 

The Township of Dennis is located in the extreme southern portion of the Pinelands Area, in Cape May 

County. Pinelands municipalities that abut Dennis Township include the Township of Upper and the 

Borough of Woodbine in Cape May County and the Township of Maurice River in Cumberland County.   

 

On September 9, 1983, the Pinelands Commission fully certified the Master Plan and Land Use 

Ordinances of Dennis Township. 

 

On March 26, 2019, Dennis Township adopted Ordinance 2019-01, amending Chapter 185 (Zoning) of 

the Township’s Code by revising the boundaries of the PV (Pinelands Village), PF8 (Moderate-Density 

Forest) and PF25 (Low-Density Forest) Districts, within the Pinelands Area. The Pinelands Commission 

received a certified copy of Ordinance 2019-01 on March 27, 2019. 

 

By letter dated April 1, 2019, the Executive Director notified the Township that Ordinance 2019-01 

would require formal review and approval by the Pinelands Commission. 

 

 

II.    Master Plans and Land Use Ordinances 

 

The following ordinance has been submitted to the Pinelands Commission for certification: 

        

*  Ordinance 2019-01, amending Chapter 185 (Zoning) of the Code of Dennis Township, 

introduced on February 26, 2019 and adopted on March 26, 2019. 

 

This amendment has been reviewed to determine whether it conforms with the standards for certification 

of municipal master plans and land use ordinances as set out in N.J.A.C. 7:50-3.39 of the Pinelands 

Comprehensive Management Plan. The findings from this review are presented below. The numbers 



2 

 

used to designate the respective items correspond to the numbers used to identify the standards in 

N.J.A.C. 7:50-3.39.   

 

 

1. Natural Resource Inventory 

 

 Not applicable. 

 

 

2. Required Provisions of Land Use Ordinance Relating to Development Standards 

 

Ordinance 2019-01 amends Chapter 185 (Zoning) of the Code of Dennis Township by revising 

the boundaries of the Pinelands Villages of Belleplain and Dennisville to follow lot lines, 

recognize existing development and reflect development potential. Ordinance 2019-01 rezones 

all or portions of several vacant lots from the Pinelands Villages to the Forest Area, in 

recognition of their status as municipal or State open space and conservation lands. In addition, 

the ordinance rezones portions of two lots containing an existing municipal recreation facility 

from the Forest Area to the Pinelands Village of Belleplain. In total, approximately 12 acres are 

redesignated from the Forest Area to the Pinelands Village of Belleplain and 51 acres are 

redesignated from the two Pinelands Villages to the Forest Area. All of the affected properties 

are owned by either the Township or the New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection.   

Details on the two affected Pinelands Villages follow. 

 

Belleplain 

 

Ordinance 2019-01 rezones Block 31, Lot 5.02 and a portion of Lot 13 from the PF25 (Low-

Density Forest) District in the Pinelands Forest Area to the PV (Pinelands Village) District in 

Belleplain (see Exhibit #1). These two lots are the site of an existing municipally owned active 

and passive recreation facility. Known as Chestnut Street Park,  the facility currently consists of 

playgrounds, basketball courts, football fields, bleachers, a concession stand, restrooms, storage 

sheds, garages, a 200-space paved parking lot, unpaved parking areas and other accessory 

structures. A portion of Lot 13 is already located in the PV District but the remainder of the lot is 

in the Forest Area, where the CMP does not permit new intensive recreational facilities and 

limitations on the expansion of such existing facilities apply.  Rezoning the lots to the PV 

District makes the existing recreational complex a permitted use and allows for its expansion, 

subject only to the minimum environmental standards of the CMP. In total, approximately 12 

acres are rezoned to the PV District, with the resulting zoning boundary now coinciding with lot 

lines.  

 

Ordinance 2019-01 also rezones a number of lots from the PV District to the adjacent PF25 and 

PF8 Districts in the Forest Area in recognition of their existing municipal or state ownership and 

conservation status. One small municipally owned lot is rezoned (Block 32, Lot 6), as are all or 

portions of nine lots owned by the Department of Environmental Protection and managed as part 

of Belleplain State Forest (Block 22, Lots 24, 25 and 27 and p/o Lot 22; Block 31, Lot 25; Block 

32, Lots 1, 2, 3 and 5).  All of the rezoned properties are forested and vacant. In total, 43 acres 

are rezoned to the Forest Area, returning the lots to their original management area designation 

under the Comprehensive Management Plan.    

 

  



3 

 

Dennisville 

 

Ordinance 2019-01 rezones Block 57, Lots 13 and 14, from the PV District in Dennisville to the 

PF25 District in the Forest Area (see Exhibit #2). The two lots total 7.50 acres in size and are 

owned by the New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection. They were acquired by the 

State in 2000 along with the adjacent 60-acre property known as Ludlam Mill Pond, which is 

already located in the Forest Area. A significant portion of Lot 13 is comprised of wetlands, and 

both Lots 13 and 14 are almost entirely within a 300 foot buffer to wetlands, making any future 

development on the property extremely unlikely. Rezoning these lots to the Forest Area 

appropriately recognizes their existing public ownership and lack of development potential. 

 

As a result of the zoning changes adopted by Ordinance 2019-01, 12 acres are added to the 

Pinelands Village of Belleplain and 51 acres are returned to the Pinelands Forest Area. The 

revised zoning boundaries better reflect existing development, public ownership and future 

development potential. They also eliminate the administrative difficulties caused by splitting lots 

between zones and Pinelands management areas that have very different permitted uses and 

standards.  

 

The zoning and management area changes adopted by Ordinance 2019-01 are consistent with the 

land use and development standards of the CMP.  This standard for certification is met. 

 

 

3. Requirement for Certificate of Filing and Content of Development Applications 
 

Not applicable.  

 

 

4. Requirement for Municipal Review and Action on All Development 
 

 Not applicable. 

 

 

5. Review and Action on Forestry Applications 

 

 Not applicable. 

 

 

6. Review of Local Permits 
 

Not applicable. 

   

 

7. Requirement for Capital Improvement Program 

 

 Not applicable. 

 

 

 

 



4 

 

8. Accommodation of Pinelands Development Credits 
 

Not applicable. 

 

 

9. Referral of Development Applications to Environmental Commission 
 

 Not applicable. 

 

 

10. General Conformance Requirements 
 

Ordinance 2019-01, amending Chapter 185 (Zoning) of the Code of Dennis Township, is 

consistent with the standards and provisions of the Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan.   

 

This standard for certification is met. 

 

 

11. Conformance with Energy Conservation 
 

 Not applicable. 

 

 

12. Conformance with the Federal Act 
 

Ordinance 2019-01, amending Chapter 185 (Zoning) of the Code of Dennis Township, is 

consistent with the standards and provisions of the Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan.  

No special issues exist relative to the Federal Act.  

 

This standard for certification is met. 

 

 

13. Procedure to Resolve Intermunicipal Conflicts 
 

 None of the zoning and management area changes adopted by Ordinance 2019-01 involve lands 

that are adjacent to any other municipalities. This standard for certification is met. 

 

  

 

 

PUBLIC HEARING 
 

A public hearing to receive testimony concerning Dennis Township’s application for certification 

Ordinance 2019-01 was duly advertised, noticed and held on May 1, 2019 at the Richard J. Sullivan 

Center, 15C Springfield Road, New Lisbon, New Jersey at 9:30 a.m. Ms. Grogan conducted the hearing, 

at which no testimony was received. 

 

Written comments on Ordinance 2019-01 were accepted through May 6, 2019; however, none were 

received.  



5 

 

 

CONCLUSION 
 

Based on the Findings of Fact cited above, the Executive Director has concluded that Ordinance 2019-

01 is consistent with Comprehensive Management Plan standards for the certification of municipal 

master plans and land use ordinances.  Accordingly, the Executive Director recommends that the 

Commission issue an order to certify Ordinance 2019-01 of Dennis Township. 

 

SRG/CDE 

Attachments 

 

 



PF25

PV to PF8

PV to PF25

PV to PF25

PF25 to PV

PV to PF25

PF25

PV
PF8

Hands Mill R
d

Woodbine Ave

Hoffman Mill Rd

Broa
d S

t

0 0.50.25
Miles ¯

Rezoned Lots in Village of Belleplain Executive Director's Report
Dennis Ordinance 2019-01
Exhibit 1
5/31/2019Pinelands Management Areas

Forest Area

Pinelands Village

Existing Zoning

Rezoned Parcels

Parcels



¬«47

¬«47

Ty
ler

 R
d Fid

ler
 Rd

Wash
ing

ton
 Ave

Petersburg Rd

PR

PV

PV

PF25

PF25

0 0.50.25
Miles ¯

Rezoned Lots in Village of Dennisville Executive Director's Report
Dennis Ordinance 2019-01
Exhibit 2
5/31/2019Pinelands Management Areas

Forest Area

Rural Development Area

Pinelands Village

Existing Zoning

Rezoned Parcels

Parcels

P i n e l a n d s  N a t i o n a l  R e s e r v eP i n e l a n d s  N a t i o n a l  R e s e r v e

PV to PF25



 

 

RESOLUTION OF THE NEW JERSEY PINELANDS COMMISSION 
 

NO. PC4-19-_____________ 

 

 

TITLE: Issuing an Order to Certify Pemberton Township Ordinance 12-2019, Adopting the Rowan College at 

Burlington County Redevelopment Plan, and Ordinance 13-2019, Adopting the Former Burlington 

County Minimum Security Corrections and Work Release Center Redevelopment Plan  

 

 

Commissioner ______________________________ moves and Commissioner ___________________________ 

seconds the motion that: 
 

 

 

WHEREAS, on June 3, 1983, the Pinelands Commission fully certified the Master Plan and Land Use 

Ordinances of Pemberton Township; and 

 

WHEREAS, Resolution #PC4-83-52 of the Pinelands Commission specified that any amendment to the 

Township’s certified Master Plan and Land Use Ordinances be submitted to the Executive Director in 

accordance with N.J.A.C. 7:50-3.45 (Submission and Review of Amendments to Certified Master Plans 

and Land Use Ordinances) of the Comprehensive Management Plan to determine if said amendment 

raises a substantial issue with respect to conformance with the Pinelands Comprehensive Management 

Plan; and 

 

WHEREAS, Resolution #PC4-83-52 further specified that any such amendment shall only become 

effective as provided in N.J.A.C. 7:50-3.45 of the Comprehensive Management Plan; and 
 

WHEREAS, on April 3, 2019, Pemberton Township adopted Ordinance 12-2019, adopting a 

Redevelopment Plan for the Rowan College at Burlington County Redevelopment Area; and 

 

WHEREAS, on April 3, 2019, Pemberton Township also adopted Ordinance 13-2019, adopting a 

Redevelopment Plan for the Former Burlington County Minimum Security Corrections and Work 

Release Center Redevelopment Area; and  

 

WHEREAS, both Redevelopment Areas are located in the Pinelands Area; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Pinelands Commission received certified copies of Ordinances 12-2019 and 13-2019 

on April 9, 2019; and 

 

WHEREAS, by letter dated April 15, 2019, the Executive Director notified the Township that 

Ordinances 12-2019 and 13-2019 would require formal review and approval by the Pinelands 

Commission; and 

 

WHEREAS, a public hearing to receive testimony on Ordinances 12-2019 and 13-2019 was duly 

advertised, noticed and held on May 1, 2019 at the Richard J. Sullivan Center, 15C Springfield Road, 

New Lisbon, New Jersey at 9:30 a.m.; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Executive Director has found that Ordinances 12-2019 and 13-2019 are consistent with 

the standards and provisions of the Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Executive Director has submitted a report to the Commission recommending issuance 

of an order to certify that Pemberton Township Ordinances 12-2019 and 13-2019, adopting the Rowan 

College at Burlington County and Former Burlington County Minimum Security Corrections and Work 

Release Center Redevelopment Plans, are in conformance with the Pinelands Comprehensive 

Management Plan; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Executive Director’s report was provided to the Commission’s CMP Policy and 

Implementation Committee and those members present at the Committee’s May 31, 2019 meeting 

indicated support for certification of Ordinances 12-2019 and 13-2019; and  

 



 

Record of Commission Votes 

 AYE NAY NP A/R*  AYE NAY NP A/R*  AYE NAY NP A/R* 

Ashmun     Howell     Pikolycky     
Avery     Irick     Quinn     

Barr     Jannarone     Rohan Green     
Christy     Lloyd     Prickett     
Earlen     Lohbauer          

      *A = Abstained / R = Recused 

 

Adopted at a meeting of the Pinelands Commission  Date: ________________________ 

 

   

Nancy Wittenberg  Richard Prickett 

Executive Director  Chairman 
 

 

2 

WHEREAS, the Pinelands Commission has duly considered all public testimony submitted to the 

Commission concerning Ordinances 12-2019 and 13-2019 and has reviewed the Executive Director’s 

report; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Pinelands Commission accepts the recommendation of the Executive Director; and 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to N.J.S.A. 13:18A-5h, no action authorized by the Commission shall have force 

or effect until ten (10) days, Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays excepted, after a copy of the 

minutes of the meeting of the Commission has been delivered to the Governor for review, unless prior to 

expiration of the review period the Governor shall approve same, in which case the action shall become 

effective upon such approval. 

 

 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that  

 

1. An Order is hereby issued to certify that Pemberton Township Ordinance 12-2019, adopting the 

Rowan College at Burlington County Redevelopment Plan, and Ordinance 13-2019, adopting the 

Former Burlington County Minimum Security Corrections and Work Release Center 

Redevelopment Plan, are in conformance with the Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan.  

 

2. Any additional amendments to Pemberton Township’s certified Master Plan and Land Use 

Ordinances shall be submitted to the Executive Director in accordance with N.J.A.C. 7:50-3.45 

to determine if said amendments raise a substantial issue with respect to the Comprehensive 

Management Plan. Any such amendment shall become effective only as provided in N.J.A.C. 

7:50-3.45.  

 
 

 

 

 

 



 

REPORT ON PEMBERTON TOWNSHIP ORDINANCE 12-2019, ADOPTING THE ROWAN 

COLLEGE AT BURLINGTON COUNTY REDEVELOPMENT PLAN, AND ORDINANCE 13-

2019, ADOPTING THE FORMER BURLINGTON COUNTY MINIMUM SECURITY 

CORRECTIONS AND WORK RELEASE CENTER REDEVELOPMENT PLAN 

 

       May 31, 2019 

 

 

Pemberton Township 

500 Pemberton-Browns Mills Road 

Pemberton, NJ  08068 

 

FINDINGS OF FACT 

 

I. Background 

 

The Township of Pemberton is located in eastern Burlington County, in the northwestern section of the 

Pinelands Area.  Pinelands municipalities that abut Pemberton Township include New Hanover, 

Springfield, Southampton and Woodland Townships in Burlington County and Manchester and 

Plumsted Townships in Ocean County. 

 

On June 3, 1983, the Pinelands Commission fully certified the Master Plan and codified Land Use 

Ordinances of Pemberton Township. 

 

On April 3, 2019, Pemberton Township adopted Ordinance 12-2019, adopting a Redevelopment Plan for 

the Rowan College at Burlington County Redevelopment Area.  Also on April 3, 2019, the Township 

adopted Ordinance 13-2019, adopting a Redevelopment Plan for the Former Burlington County 

Minimum Security Corrections and Work Release Center Redevelopment Area. The Rowan College at 

Burlington County Redevelopment Area is located in partially in a Pinelands Regional Growth Area and 

partially in a Pinelands Rural Development Area. The Former Burlington County Minimum Security 

Corrections and Work Release Center Redevelopment Area is located entirely within a Regional Growth 

Area.  

 

The Pinelands Commission received certified copies of Ordinances 12-2019 and 13-2019 on April 9, 

2019. 

 

By letter dated April 15, 2019, the Executive Director notified the Township that Ordinances 12-2019 

and 13-2019 would require formal review and approval by the Pinelands Commission. 

 

 

  



2 

 

II.    Master Plans and Land Use Ordinances 

 

The following ordinances have been submitted to the Pinelands Commission for certification: 

        

 Ordinance 12-2019, adopting the Rowan College at Burlington County Redevelopment 

Plan, introduced on March 20, 2019 and adopted on April 3, 2019; and 

 

 Ordinance 13-2019, adopting the Former Burlington County Minimum Security 

Corrections and Work Release Center Redevelopment Plan, introduced on March 20, 2019 

and adopted on April 3, 2019. 

  

These ordinances have been reviewed to determine whether they conform with the standards for 

certification of municipal master plans and land use ordinances as set out in N.J.A.C. 7:50-3.39 of the 

Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan. The findings from this review are presented below. The 

numbers used to designate the respective items correspond to the numbers used to identify the standards 

in N.J.A.C. 7:50-3.39.   

 

 

1. Natural Resource Inventory 

 

 Not applicable. 

 

 

2. Required Provisions of Land Use Ordinance Relating to Development Standards 

 

 Rowan College at Burlington County Redevelopment Plan 

 

Ordinance 12-2019 adopts a Redevelopment Plan for the Rowan College at Burlington County 

(RCBC) Redevelopment Area. The RCBC Redevelopment Area totals approximately 225 acres 

in size and is comprised of Block 843, Lots 1 and 10, and Block 843.01, Lot 1.01. It is located on 

the south side of Pemberton-Browns Mills Road (see Exhibit #1) and contains the former 

Burlington County College campus, more recently known as Rowan College at Burlington 

County.  

 

According to the Redevelopment Plan, development of one or more mixed-use projects is 

envisioned, including recreation, residential, office, medical, light industrial and retail uses. The 

Plan specifically discourages a “piecemeal” redevelopment approach while acknowledging that 

there may ultimately be multiple owners and developers who seek to develop separate projects. 

The Plan also emphasizes the need to focus redevelopment efforts on the already disturbed and 

developed portions of the redevelopment area. This is a critical component of the Redevelopment 

Plan because lands outside the existing development footprint are nearly all comprised of 

wetlands and required wetlands buffer areas.    

 

The RCBC Redevelopment Plan divides the new redevelopment area into three areas.  Area 1, 

located along Pemberton-Browns Mills Road, contains lands on both sides of the Pemberton 

Bypass, including the existing RCBC athletic fields (see Exhibit #2).  Area 2 extends east along 

Pemberton-Browns Mills Road to encompass the developed portion of the RCBC campus (see 

Exhibit #3).  Areas 1 and 2 contain a total of 143 acres and are located entirely within a 

Pinelands Regional Growth Area. They are currently included in the Township’s GI 



3 

 

(Government Institution) District, where permitted uses are limited to a variety of county and 

municipal facilities. Area 3, which contains approximately 82 acres, includes the undisturbed 

portions of the RCBC campus (see Exhibit #4).  Located in a Pinelands Rural Development 

Area, Area 3 is comprised almost entirely of wetlands and is currently located in the Township’s 

R-3 (Single-Family Residential) District.  

 

Within Area 1, the RCBC Redevelopment Plan permits multi-family dwellings and 

neighborhood commercial uses.  Permitted uses in Area 2 are more expansive, including multi-

family dwellings, office/light industrial “flex space”, hospitals, health-care facilities, retail uses, 

low intensity recreational facilities, government offices and maintenance facilities and child care 

centers. Permitted uses in Area 3 are appropriately limited to low intensity recreational facilities.    

 

A maximum density of 10 units per acre is permitted for residential development in Areas 1 and 

2.  Ten percent of all units in the RCBC Redevelopment Area must be set aside as affordable 

housing units.  Pinelands Development Credits must be acquired and redeemed for 25% of all 

units in the RCBC Redevelopment Area, excluding any required affordable housing units. The 

Redevelopment Plan sets forth numerous additional standards for development, including those 

related to landscaping, screening, lighting, parking, circulation, internal walkways and 

greenways and building design and orientation. Redevelopers are encouraged to use LEED 

construction standards, with LEED certification required for new building construction and 

major renovation projects if such projects are funded by the Township or through funding 

awarded to the Township.  Finally, the Redevelopment Plan requires that all development in the 

RCBC Redevelopment Area must comply with the minimum environmental standards of the 

Comprehensive Management Plan.  

 

Former Burlington County Minimum Security Corrections and Work Release Center 

Redevelopment Plan 

 

Ordinance 13-2019 adopts a Redevelopment Plan for the Former Burlington County Minimum 

Security Corrections and Work Release Center (CWRC) Redevelopment Area. The CWRC 

Redevelopment Area encompasses approximately 10 acres within the Township’s Regional 

Growth Area and is comprised of portions of Block 812, Lots 9.01 and 9.03. It is located on the 

north side of Pemberton-Browns Mills Road (see Exhibit #5). In terms of existing development, 

the Redevelopment Area contains the County’s former corrections and work release center, 

which the Redevelopment Plan describes as “vacant and obsolete”, as well as an old access road. 

All lands in the CWRC Redevelopment Area are currently included in the Township’s GI 

(Government Institution) District, where permitted uses are limited to various county and 

municipal buildings and facilities.  

 

The CWRC Redevelopment Plan is intended to encourage residential development, foster the 

creation of new neighborhoods and provide opportunities to address the Township’s future 

affordable housing needs.  Pre-existing government uses are permitted to continue in the CWRC 

Redevelopment Area; however, the focus of the Redevelopment Plan is to provide standards for 

new residential development.  Garden apartments, townhouses and semi-detached dwellings are 

all listed as permitted uses, with a maximum residential density of 8.0 units per acre. Ten percent 

of all units in the CWRC Redevelopment Area must be set aside as affordable housing units.  

Pinelands Development Credits must be acquired and redeemed for 25% of all units in the 

CRWC Redevelopment Area, excluding any required affordable housing units. In addition to 

providing standards for parking, residential design, landscaping, streetscape, lighting and 



4 

 

signage, the Redevelopment Plan also requires that all development in the CWRC 

Redevelopment Area must comply with all other municipal application requirements and 

development standards, as well as the Comprehensive Management Plan.  

 

Residential Zoning Capacity 

 

The Redevelopment Plans adopted by Ordinances 12-2019 and 13-2019 significantly increase 

residential zoning capacity in Pemberton Township’s Regional Growth Area. In the CWRC 

Redevelopment Area, 80 new units are permitted.  Residential zoning capacity in the RCBC 

Redevelopment Area is more difficult to estimate given environmental constraints and the 

resulting need to keep future development within the existing development footprint. 

Theoretically, the permitted 10 unit per acre density could be applied to all 143 acres in Areas 1 

and 2 of the RCBC Redevelopment Area, resulting in a zoning capacity of over 1,000 units.  

Such a result is unlikely, given that at least a portion of the Redevelopment Area is expected to 

be developed for nonresidential uses.  In addition, the maximum height limitations established in 

the Plan (30 feet in Area 1; 50 feet in Area 2) will limit the number of stories and resulting 

number of multi-family units in any proposed apartment buildings.  A more realistic estimate of 

340-400 new units was provided by the Township in its application for a grant from the 

Pinelands Infrastructure Trust Fund.  Using that estimate, residential zoning capacity has 

increased by a total of 480 units as a result of the two redevelopment plans. 

 

As noted above, the RCBC Redevelopment Plan permits residential development at a density of 

10 units per acre.  The CWRC Redevelopment Plan allows for a density of 8 units per acre. 

These permitted densities are significantly higher than what the Comprehensive Management 

Plan prescribes for Pemberton’s Regional Growth Area. N.J.A.C. 7:50-5.28(a)1 and 3 require the 

Township to zone for a density of only 2.0 units per upland acre in its Regional Growth Area. 

However, the Comprehensive Management Plan does provide municipalities with the ability to 

zone portions of their Regional Growth Areas for higher densities, provided the lands in question 

are appropriate for more intensive development, infrastructure exists or can be provided to 

support the increased density and sufficient opportunities for the use of Pinelands Development 

Credits are provided. The RCBC and CWRC Redevelopment Areas meet these standards, even 

though they both contain significant wetlands. Redevelopment on existing impervious surfaces 

and within areas of existing disturbance is permitted under the Comprehensive Management 

Plan.  

 

Ordinances 12-2019 and 13-2019 are consistent with the land use and development standards of 

the CMP.  Therefore, this standard for certification is met. 

 

 

3. Requirement for Certificate of Filing and Content of Development Applications 
 

Not applicable.  

 

 

4. Requirement for Municipal Review and Action on All Development 
 

 Not applicable. 

 

 



5 

 

5. Review and Action on Forestry Applications 

 

 Not applicable. 

 

 

6. Review of Local Permits 
 

Not applicable. 

   

 

7. Requirement for Capital Improvement Program 

 

 Not applicable. 

 

 

8. Accommodation of Pinelands Development Credits 
 

Ordinances 12-2019 and 13-2019 adopt new redevelopment plans for a portion of Pemberton 

Township’s Regional Growth Area.  Based on these plans, residential development will be 

permitted at a density of 10 units per acre in the RCBC Redevelopment Area and at 8 units per 

acre in the CWRC Redevelopment Area, with the use of Pinelands Development Credits required 

for 25% of all proposed units. Units made affordable to low- and moderate-income households 

for purposes of satisfying the 10% set-aside requirement in the Redevelopment Areas are exempt 

from this Pinelands Development Credit requirement.  Affordable housing units beyond the 

required 10% set-aside will require that Pinelands Development Credits be acquired and 

redeemed at the 25% rate.   

 

The two Redevelopment Plans significantly increase residential zoning capacity and 

opportunities for the redemption of Pinelands Development Credits in the Township’s Regional 

Growth Area. It is estimated that a total of 480 new units may be developed and 108 rights (27 

Pinelands Development Credits) could be redeemed.  These numbers are well in excess of what 

the Comprehensive Management Plan requires for Pemberton’s Regional Growth Area.   

 

It is important to note that the standards described above represent a departure from the 

traditional zoning and Pinelands Development Credit strategy outlined in N.J.A.C. 7:50-5.28(a).  

This section of the Comprehensive Management Plan anticipates that municipalities will 

establish “base” densities in their various Regional Growth Area zoning districts and then 

provide opportunities to increase such densities through the use of Pinelands Development 

Credits. In Pemberton’s Regional Growth Area, the Comprehensive Management Plan 

establishes a “base” density of 2.0 units per developable acre and directs the Township to 

provide for “bonus” density through the use of Pinelands Development Credits to allow for a 

total of 3.0 units per developable acre.  There is nothing in the CMP that prevents municipalities 

from exceeding these minimum requirements, which is exactly what Pemberton Township has 

elected to do.  The Township has chosen to provide for higher density in these two new 

redevelopment areas as a means of spurring redevelopment, encouraging new commercial 

ratables and mixed use development and accommodating the municipality’s future affordable 

housing needs.  At the same time, the Township has adopted standards to ensure that Pinelands 

Development Credit use will be a significant part of whatever development projects ultimately 

come to fruition in the redevelopment areas.   



6 

 

 

Rather than relying on the traditional approach of providing developers with the option of using 

Pinelands Development Credits to increase permitted density, Ordinances 12-2019 and 13-2019 

guarantee a PDC redemption rate of 25% for residential development within the Redevelopment 

Areas, with the exception of affordable housing units. Given the greater certainty provided by 

this approach, the Executive Director finds that the PDC requirements adopted by Ordinances 

12-2019 and 13-2019 are consistent with Comprehensive Management Plan standards. 

 

This standard for certification is met.  

 

 

9. Referral of Development Applications to Environmental Commission 
 

 Not applicable. 

 

 

10. General Conformance Requirements 
 

Pemberton Township Ordinances 12-2019 and 13-2019, adopting the Rowan College at 

Burlington County and Former Burlington County Minimum Security Corrections and Work 

Release Center Redevelopment Plans, are consistent with the standards and provisions of the 

Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan.   

 

This standard for certification is met. 

 

 

11. Conformance with Energy Conservation 
 

 Not applicable. 

 

 

12. Conformance with the Federal Act 
 

Pemberton Township Ordinances 12-2019 and 13-2019, adopting the Rowan College at 

Burlington County and Former Burlington County Minimum Security Corrections and Work 

Release Center Redevelopment Plans, are consistent with the standards and provisions of the 

Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan.  No special issues exist relative to the Federal Act.  

 

This standard for certification is met. 

 

 

13. Procedure to Resolve Intermunicipal Conflicts 
 

 The zoning changes adopted by Ordinances 12-2019 and 13-2019 through the two new 

redevelopment plans do not involve lands that are adjacent to any other municipalities. This 

standard for certification is met. 

 

  

 



7 

 

 

PUBLIC HEARING 
 

A public hearing to receive testimony concerning Pemberton Township’s application for certification 

Ordinances 12-2019 and 13-2019 was duly advertised, noticed and held on May 1, 2019 at the Richard 

J. Sullivan Center, 15C Springfield Road, New Lisbon, New Jersey at 9:30 a.m. Ms. Grogan conducted 

the hearing, at which no testimony was received 

 

Written comments on Ordinances 12-2019 and 13-2019 were accepted through May 6, 2019; however, 

none were received.  

 

  

 

 

CONCLUSION 
 

Based on the Findings of Fact cited above, the Executive Director has concluded that Ordinances 12-

2019 and 13-2019 are consistent with Comprehensive Management Plan standards for the certification 

of municipal master plans and land use ordinances.  Accordingly, the Executive Director recommends 

that the Commission issue an order to certify Ordinances 12-2019 and 13-2019 of Pemberton Township. 

 

SRG/CPE 

Attachments 

 

 



 

  

Executive Director’s Report 
Pemberton Ordinance 12-2019, 13-2019 
Exhibit 1 
May 31, 2019 



  

Executive Director’s Report 
Pemberton Ordinance 23-2018, 24-2018 
Exhibit B 
May 31, 2019 

Executive Director’s Report 
Pemberton Ordinance 12-2019, 13-2019 
Exhibit 2 
May 31, 2019 
 



  

Executive Director’s Report 
Pemberton Ordinance 12-2019, 13-2019 
Exhibit 3 
May 31, 2019 
 



  

Executive Director’s Report 
Pemberton Ordinance 12-2019, 13-2019 
Exhibit 4 
May 31, 2019 
 



 

Executive Director’s Report 
Pemberton Ordinance 23-2018, 24-2018 
Exhibit E 
May 31, 2019 

Executive Director’s Report 
Pemberton Ordinance 12-2019, 13-2019 
Exhibit 5 
May 31, 2019 
 



 

 

RESOLUTION OF THE NEW JERSEY PINELANDS COMMISSION 
 

NO. PC4-19-_____________ 
 

 
TITLE:       To Authorize the Executive Director to Continue to Expend Funds for Fiscal Year 2020 at the Same  
                       Level of Expenditures as Fiscal Year 2019 until the Adoption of the Fiscal Year 2020 Budget 

 
 

Commissioner ______________________________ moves and Commissioner ___________________________ 
seconds the motion that: 
 

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to the Pinelands Protection Act, the Pinelands Commission is charged with  
continuing implementation and monitoring of the Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan; and 
 
WHEREAS, it is anticipated that the New Jersey Legislature will appropriate $2,949,000 to support the 
Commission’s operations during Fiscal Year 2020; and 
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to N.J.S.A 13:18A-5h, no action authorized by the Commission shall have force 
or effect until ten (10) days, Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays excepted, after a copy of the 
minutes of the meeting of the Commission has been delivered to the Governor for review, unless prior to 
expiration of the review period the Governor shall approve same, in which case the actions shall become 
effective upon such approval. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Executive Director is authorized to continue to 
expend funds during Fiscal Year 2020 at the same level of expenditures as Fiscal Year 2019 until the 
Commission’s adoption of the Fiscal Year 2020 Budgets. 
 
 
 
 

Record of Commission Votes 
 AYE NAY NP A/R*  AYE NAY NP A/R*  AYE NAY NP A/R* 

Ashmun     Howell     Pikolycky     
Avery     Irick     Quinn     
Barr     Jannarone     Rohan Green     
Christy     Lloyd     Prickett     
Earlen     Lohbauer          

      *A = Abstained / R = Recused 

 
Adopted at a meeting of the Pinelands Commission  Date: ________________________ 

 
   

Nancy Wittenberg  Richard Prickett 
Executive Director  Chairman 

 
 



MEMORANDUM

To:  Members of the Pinelands Commission

From:  Susan R. Grogan 
  Chief Planner

Date:  May 31, 2019 

Subject: No Substantial Issue Findings
______________________________________________________________________________

During the past month, we reviewed four ordinance amendments that we found to raise no substantial 
issues with respect to the standards of the Pinelands Comprehensive Management Plan. These 
amendments were: 

Hamilton Township Ordinance 1900-2019 -amends Chapter 203 (Land Use and Development) of the 
Township’s Code by incorporating standards for the installation of solar panels, satellite dishes and 
similar utility equipment in the Mays Landing Historic District. Ordinance 1900-2019 permits such 
equipment to be installed: in the side or rear yard area; on buildings with a flat roof or parapet; on a new 
structure or a new addition to an existing structure; or on a non-historic accessory structure. In all such 
cases, the ordinance requires equipment to be screened from the view of the public right-of-way. 
Portions of the Mays Landing Historic District are located within the Pinelands Regional Growth Area. 

Monroe Township Ordinance O:12-2019 - amends Chapter 175 (Land Management) of the 
Township’s Code by revising various sections of Article XI, Guaranties; Inspections; Acceptance of 
Improvements. In particular, Ordinance O:12-1029 revises provisions related to performance and 
maintenance guarantees as well as temporary certificate of occupancy and safety and stabilization 
guarantees.

Washington Township Ordinance 2018-05 - amends Chapter 275 (Land Development) of the 
Township’s Code in response to amendments to the CMP, including revisions to definitions, types of 
development exempt from application to the Commission, notice requirements and standards for the 
installation of advanced wastewater treatment systems.

Washington Township Ordinance 2018-07 - amends Chapter 275 (Land Development) of the 
Township’s Code by establishing a new section entitled Solar Energy Systems that contains provisions 
for the location, size, and height of solar energy facilities. Such systems are permitted in all zoning 



2 
 

districts of the Township. Because Ordinance 2018-07 explicitly prohibits solar energy commercial 
operations as a principal use, only accessory solar facility systems are permitted by the ordinance.  
 
 
 
 



  

 

MEMORANDUM 

 

 

To:  Members of the Commission 

 

From:  Charles M. Horner, P.P.  

  Director of Regulatory Programs 

 

Date:  June 3, 2019 

 

Subject: Public Development Memorandum of Agreement (MOA) Determinations   

____________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Between April 30, 2019 and June 3, 2019, the Commission staff determined that the following public 

development application was consistent with the Commission approved public development MOAs and 

that the proposed development may proceed:  

 

2015-0058.002 - Dennis Township 

 

Reconstruction of the Petersburg Road and Academy Road intersection and the extension of an existing 

stormwater drainage system within the Academy Road right-of-way 

 

Please do not hesitate to contact me with any questions. 


	Packet Summary Memo
	Agenda
	Approval of the May 10, 2019 Meeting Minutes
	Attachments to the Minutes
	Resolution - Approving With Conditions an Application for Public Development (Application Number 1981-0545.013)
	Letters of Intepretation
	Resolution - Issuing an Order to Certify Ordinance 2019-01, Amending Chapter 185 (Zoning) of the Code of Dennis Township
	Resolution - Issuing an Order to Certify Pemberton Township Ordinance 12-2019, Adopting the Rowan College at Burlington County Redevelopment Plan, and Ordinance 13-2019, Adopting the Former Burlington County Minimum Security Corrections and Work Release Center Redevelopment Plan
	Resolution - To Authorize the Executive Director to Continue to Expend Funds for Fiscal Year 2020 at the Same Level of Expenditures as Fiscal Year 2019 until the Adoption of the Fiscal Year 2020 Budget
	Memo - Public Development Memorandum of Agreement (MOA) Determinations



